# Colorectal Cancer in Norway

## National Treatment Guidelines and Outcomes

Bjørn Steinar Olden Nedrebø



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

Stavanger 2013

Dissertation date: April 5, 2013

## Scientific environment

This thesis is the result of work performed in conjunction with the Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Group, a subgroup of the Norwegian Gastro-Intestinal Cancer Group. I worked at the Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery at Stavanger University Hospital both as a Senior Consultant Surgeon and as head of the department. I have been a member of the Surgical Research Group of Stavanger University Hospital and have been affiliated with the Institute of Surgical Sciences at the University of Bergen during the period in which I performed my thesis work.

The Folke Hermansens Fund for Cancer Research at Stavanger University Hospital funded this PhD thesis project.



In affiliation with the Department of Surgical Sciences, University of Bergen,

Bergen, Norway



## Abbreviations

AJCC	American Joint Committee on Cancer
APR	Abdominoperineal resection
CC	Colon cancer
CI	Confidence interval
CIN	Chromosomal instability
CRM	Circumferential resection margin
CRN	Cancer Registry of Norway
CRT	Chemoradiotherapy
СТ	Computer tomography
CRC	Colorectal cancer
CEA	Carcinoembryonic antigen
LN	Lymph nodes
LR	Local recurrence
MDT	Multidisciplinary team
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MSI	Microsatellite instability
NCCR	Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry
PET	Positron emission tomography
R0	No residual disease

R1	Microscopic residual disease
R2	Macroscopic residual disease
TNM	Tumour-node-metastasis
TME	Total mesorectal excision
UICC	Union for International Cancer Control

## Contents

Scientific environment		2
Conte	nts	5
1. Su	ummary	7
1.1	Background	7
1.2	Purpose of the study	7
1.3	Materials and methods	7
1.4	Results	8
1.5	Conclusion	8
2. Li	ist of publications	9
3. Introduction		10
3.1	History	10
3.2	Epidemiology	13
3	3.2.1 Geographical distribution	13
3	3.2.2 Incidence according to age and sex	14
3	3.2.3 Anatomical distribution of colon and rectal cancer	15
3.3	Etiology	17
3.4	Genetic factors	17
4. Cl	linical presentation and diagnosis	20
4.1	Diagnosis	20
4.2	Preoperative workup	21
4.3	Fitness for treatment	23
5. St	25	
5.1	T categories for colorectal cancer <sup>56</sup>	26
5.2	N categories for colorectal cancer <sup>56</sup>	26
5.3	<i>M</i> categories for colorectal cancer <sup>56</sup>	26
<b>6. T</b>	reatment of colorectal cancer	28
6.1	Treatment options	28
e	6.1.1 Curative or palliative resection	28
6.2	Colon cancer	29
6.3	Rectal cancer	34
6.4	Palliative interventions	35

7.	His	topathological evaluation	37
8.	Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry		38
9.	Evolution of Norwegian Treatment Guidelines		40
10.	Ai	m of the study	42
11.	Pa	tients and methods	43
1	1.1	Databases	43
1	1.2	Patients	43
1	1.3	Time periods and time intervals	44
12.	Re	sults	48
1	2.1	Paper I	48
1	2.2	Paper II	48
1	2.3	Paper III	49
13.	Di	scussion	50
14.	Co	nclusions	58
15.	. Future perspectives		59
16.	. Appendix		61
17.	7. Acknowledgements		65
18.	8. References		68
Pap	oers	I – III	78

## 1. Summary

#### 1.1 Background

Since the early 1990s, there has been increased attention on the management of patients with rectal cancer, both in Norway and in many other countries. The Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry, which was established in 1994, provides feedback regarding patient outcomes to all hospitals involved in rectal cancer surgery. A new operative technique, total mesorectal excision or TME, was introduced at the same time, and pre-operative radiotherapy was introduced as part of the primary treatment. Eventually, several low-volume hospitals discontinued surgery for rectal cancer.

With regard to colon cancer, adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with lymph node metastases was introduced in 1997. No other systematic changes in colon cancer treatment took place until 2007, when a national Colon Cancer Registry was established. The Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry was established by combining these two registries.

## 1.2 Purpose of the study

We wished to investigate the consequences of implementing national guidelines with a strong focus on rectal cancer as compared to colon cancer during the time period of 1994 to 2003. In particular, we aimed to compare short- and long-term survival at the national level. In addition, we wanted to investigate lymph node harvest in colon cancer patients in Norway, as this has been suggested to be a quality indicator in colon cancer surgery.

## 1.3 Materials and methods

Data were provided by the Cancer Registry of Norway and by the Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry for Paper I and Paper II. For Paper III, the new Colorectal Cancer Registry, which was established in 2007, provided the data. Using these data in combination with mortality data from Statistics Norway, we compared relative survival for colon and rectal cancer in different time periods and excess mortality in colon and rectal cancer at various time intervals during the five-year period after treatment. For Paper III, we identified colon cancer patients who were curatively resected in 2007 and 2008. We studied variables that might be indicative of poor (i.e. <9) lymph node harvest and identified patients with lymph node positive disease.

## 1.4 Results

We found no difference in survival between colon and rectal cancer in the time period 1994–1996. However, rectal cancer showed significantly better survival than colon cancer in 2001–2003. Most patient groups showed increased survival between the 1994-1996 timeperiod to the 2001-2003 timeperiod; the exception was colon cancer patients >75 years of age with lymph node metastasis. Rectal cancer patients had lower short-term mortality than colon cancer patients. By about four years after primary surgery, rectal cancer patients had a higher mortality than colon cancer patients.

We found the following factors to be associated with poor lymph node harvest, which has been proposed as an indicator of poor-quality treatment: being elderly, being male, having sigmoid cancer and the presence of a short distal margin. However, none of these factors was significant when it came to identifying patients with positive lymph nodes.

## 1.5 Conclusion

After the introduction of national treatment guidelines, the survival of rectal cancer patients surpassed the survival of colon cancer patients. Short-term mortality was lower in rectal cancer patients, and 5-year survival was higher than for colon cancer. There is a need for an increased focus on colon cancer patients, and in particular on patients > 75 years of age with lymph node positive disease.

## 2. List of publications

- I B. S. Nedrebø K. Søreide M. T. Eriksen L. M. Dørum, J. T. Kvaløy, J. A.
   Søreide and H. Kørner. Survival effect of implementing national treatment strategies for curatively resected colonic and rectal cancer.
   British Journal of Surgery 2011;98: 716-723
- II B. S. Nedrebø K. Søreide M. T. Eriksen, J. T. Kvaløy, J. A. Søreide and H. Kørner. Excess mortality after curative surgery for colorectal cancer changes over time and differs for patients with colon versus rectal cancer. *Acta Oncologica, 2012 Oct 29. (Epub ahead of print)*
- III B. S. Nedrebø K. Søreide M. T. Eriksen A Nesbakken, J. A. Søreide and H. Kørner. Assessment of risk factors associated with poor lymph node harvest after colon cancer surgery in a national cohort.

Colorectal Disease, in press.

## 3. Introduction

#### 3.1 History

Cancer has been observed in dinosaur samples from 200 million years ago and seems to be inherently associated with life.<sup>1</sup> Osteosarcoma and metastatic disease has been found in mummified bodies from the Middle East and South America. The first recorded dissections of humans took place about 500 BC, and Hippocrates (460–377 BC) was the first to recognise cancer as a distinctive disease with both local and distant consequences<sup>1</sup>. Hippocrates was also one of the first proctology surgeons, and his written work, "On haemorrhoids," describes how to cut, excise and cauterize the haemorrhoids<sup>2</sup>. However, Hippocrates advised against surgical treatment of cancer, an attitude that remained predominant in medicine for about 2000 years<sup>2</sup>.

Rectal cancer was first described in the 14th century by John of Arderne. The following are excerpts from his writing.

"A bubo is a tumour developing within the anus in the rectum – with great hardness, but little aching. This I say, before it ulcerates, is nothing else than a hidden cancer, that may not in the beginning of it be known by the sight of the eye."

"But after passage of time it ulcerates and wastes all of the circumference of it so that it may never be cured with man'cure."

"The patient cannot keep himself from going to the privy because of the aching and sharp pain... hard faeces are passed and sometimes it cannot get out because of the stricture."<sup>2</sup>

Surgery for colorectal cancer was reported in a few cases in the 18<sup>th</sup> century, replacing medical treatment that mainly comprised enema, venae section, laxatives and ointments during the 19<sup>th</sup> century. Alexis Littré (Paris, France) was probably the first to suggest the use of a stoma for anus atresia in 1710 by creating a sigmoideostomy. The first stoma for a patient with rectal cancer was described in

1776 by the French surgeon Pillore<sup>2</sup>. At that time, surgery was seen as the last resort i.e. for use when all conservative treatments, including large doses of mercury, had failed. Pillore created a caecostomy that had a favourable immediate postoperative course, but the patient died from peritonitis on the  $18^{th}$  postoperative day. Autopsy showed that there was nothing wrong with the stoma, but 1 kg of mercury had lodged in a narrowing of the small intestine and had eroded the small intestine.<sup>2</sup>

The first successful surgical resection of rectal cancer treatment, which was a transanal excision, was performed in 1826 by Lisfranc (Paris, France)<sup>1</sup>. The patient recovered fully with no relapse. Another 8 patients subsequently underwent the same operation, 6 of whom survived. This operation was performed for tumours below the level of the peritoneal reflection by pulling down the rectum with the tumour and amputating the distal rectum. According to Nettler, this was in fact an anal excision without any curative potential, and most patients died within two years.<sup>1</sup>

During the second half of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, the basis of modern medicine was laid. This paradigm shift included a better understanding of pathology, pathophysiology and hygiene. The introduction of general anaesthesia enabled surgeons to develop more complex surgical procedures, thus setting the stage for modern surgical oncology. Increasing numbers of surgeons continued to carry out perineal excisions. Theodor Billroth is said to have excised the rectum more than 40 times before 1872.

The course for colon cancer took a different path than that of rectal cancer, with the creation of an anastomosis being the most important challenge. The first successful resection with a primary anastomosis for large bowel cancer seems to have been performed by Reybard in 1833. The patient died one year later due to recurrence. The operation was criticized, and for a long time palliative defunctioning by colostomy was the suggested treatment of choice. As late as 1880, only 10 resections had been reported in the literature, 7 of which were failures. Later, resection and double barrel stoma was introduced, followed by internal anastomosis.<sup>3</sup>

Modern treatment of rectal cancer had its start in 1906, when Miles performed a combined abdomino-perineal operation for rectal cancer. One stage of the operation

was performed via the abdomen with the creation of an end-colostomy, and the other via the perineum. Removal of regional lymph nodes was an important part of the procedure that helped reduce local recurrence rates. Miles' major contribution was to identify the lymphatic spread of cancer cells upwards, downwards and laterally. He therefore assumed that removal of the following was essential for the cure of rectal cancer: the entire rectum, including the anal canal, sphincters, levator ani muscles, ischiorectal fat, most of the sigmoid colon and mesocolon along with the central lymph nodes of the superior haemorrhoidal and inferior mesenteric vessel.<sup>3</sup> Even so, until 1920 there were still studies published about the natural history of untreated colorectal cancer. These reports showed a mean time to death of 24 months, with some patients surviving more than 10 years<sup>3</sup>.

During the last century, there has been tremendous progress in terms of the development and improvement of surgical techniques, anaesthetic techniques, antibiotics, stoma care and surgical approach. In 1967, Turnbull proposed a no-touch technique that would avoid blood-borne metastases for colon cancer <sup>4</sup>. The circular stapler for low rectal anastomosis was introduced in 1970. During the 1960s, the first effective chemotherapeutic agents were introduced, including fluorouracil (5-FU), which has remained an important part of colorectal cancer treatment for 40 years.

During the 1980s, cure of colon and rectal cancer that was limited to a localised disease was considered feasible by surgical resection. However, the prognosis of patients with rectal cancer was dramatically inferior compared to patients with colon cancer due to local recurrences in more than 30% of the patients <sup>5, 6</sup>. In 1983, the British surgeon Bill Heald reported a large patient series with a very low local recurrence rate of 4%<sup>7</sup>. He showed that a refined surgical technique that took into account the correct surgical planes was essential for achieving local tumour control as a prerequisite for cure. This technique, termed "total mesorectal excision" or TME, includes complete removal of the fatty tissue behind the rectal tube, its associated lymph nodes and the satellite tumours within its enveloping fascia, which is the mesorectal fascia.<sup>8</sup> While TME was met with initial scepticism, the concept of TME has been adopted by the surgical community and was considered the standard surgical

technique for rectal cancer during the 1990s<sup>9</sup>. Currently, TME is performed not only in open surgery but also via laparoscopy<sup>10</sup> and using robot-assisted techniques<sup>11</sup>.

For colon cancer, there were basically no major changes in surgical techniques during this time (1980-2000). The only major treatment change was the introduction of adjuvant chemotherapy for lymph node positive disease. A more detailed description of the evolution of treatment guidelines during the last 20 years is given in Chapter 9, "The Evolution of Norwegian Treatment Guidelines."

### 3.2 Epidemiology

From a global perspective, there were an estimated 12.7 million cancer cases and 7.6 million cancer deaths worldwide in 2008<sup>12</sup>. In the industrialised world, breast cancer in women and lung cancer in men are the most common causes of death from cancer, followed closely by colorectal cancer for both sexes. In Norway, around 3500 new cases were diagnosed in 2007. While colorectal cancer is ranked second to prostate cancer for men and breast cancer for women, it represents the most common cancer that affects both sexes.<sup>13</sup> Approximately 5% of all men and 4% of all women in Norway will be diagnosed with colorectal cancer before age 75.<sup>14</sup>

#### 3.2.1 Geographical distribution

The distribution of colorectal cancer shows great geographical variations. The highest incidence is in Europe and North America<sup>15</sup>, and Norway is one of the Western countries with the highest incidence<sup>16</sup>. In contrast, incidence rates are considerably lower in Africa, Asia and South America<sup>17</sup>. However, incidence rates are increasing even in these countries, possibly as the result of changing lifestyles that have become more westernized. There is less variation in terms of incidence within countries compared to variations between countries, although some studies have shown higher incidence in subpopulations of patients with low income and low educational levels<sup>18</sup>.

#### 3.2.2 Incidence according to age and sex

While the incidence of colon cancer is evenly distributed in both sexes, there are considerable differences in distribution according to sex for rectal cancer. For unknown reasons, rectal cancer occurs about 50% more often in men than in women. With median ages of 75 years for colon cancer and 72 years for rectal cancer, in Norway colorectal cancer is mostly a disease that affects elderly patients. The incidence increases with increasing age. Patients under 40 years of age are uncommon, with this age group accounting for approximately 2–4% of patients with colorectal cancer.











Figure 1. Trends in age- and sex-adjusted incidence rates. Five-year relative survival and mortality rates for a) colon cancer and b) rectal cancer. Relative survival up to 15 years after diagnosis for c) colon cancer and d) rectal cancer in men and women.

Source: Cancer in Norway 2008



Figure 2. Relative survival according to sex for a) colon cancer and b) rectal cancer and according to stage for c) colon cancer and d) rectal cancer.

Source: Cancer in Norway 2008

#### 3.2.3 Anatomical distribution of colon and rectal cancer

The colon and rectum are located in the abdominal cavity (Figure 3), starting in the right lower quadrant with the caecum and its accompanying appendix vermiformis

where the small bowel enters the large bowel at the valvula Bauhini. The colon then continues upward into the ascending colon before it turns via the right flexure to the transverse colon. This part of the colon, and continuing until the last third of the transverse colon, receives its blood supply from the superior mesenteric artery and is usually defined as the "right colon". The remaining part of the colon consists of the left flexure and extends downward into the descending colon before it reaches the sigmoid colon. This part, usually termed the "left colon," is supplied with blood by the inferior mesenteric artery. The promontory usually indicates the recto-sigmoidal junction, and the rectum is usually defined as the section that is 15 cm from the anal verge. The major blood supply of the rectum is the superior rectal artery, a branch of the inferior mesenteric artery, along with the often-inconsistent middle rectal artery that emerges from the internal iliac artery and collateral vessels from the inferior rectal artery.



Figure. 3: Gross anatomy of the colon.

Approximately one-third of all colorectal cancer patients have rectal cancer, while two-thirds have colon cancer. With regard to colon cancer, 50% of the tumours are localized in the sigmoid colon, 25% in the right colon and 25% in the remaining parts of the large bowel i.e. the right flexure, transverse colon, left flexure or descending

colon. However, recently a trend of increased incidence of right-sided tumours has been shown that is particularly evident in the oldest patients.<sup>19</sup> With regard to rectal cancer, there is an even distribution of tumours located in the upper, middle and lower third of the rectum.

## 3.3 Etiology

Although there are defined genetic syndromes associated with colorectal cancer, environmental factors undoubtedly also play a major role. Specifically, immigrants moving from an area of low incidence to an area of high incidence are at greater risk of developing the disease. This has been shown for Japanese moving to Hawaii and California, for Puerto Ricans moving to the USA, and for European-born Jews who moved to Israel who were compared to Africa-born Jews.<sup>3</sup>

A number of dietary factors are proposed to be important in the development of colorectal cancer, including a lack of dietary fibre, a diet high in animal fat and low vegetable intake<sup>20</sup>. Excessive alcohol consumption, low potassium intake, low selenium intake, too much fluoride and/or low folate have also been suggested as contributing factors, but the evidence is not clear<sup>20</sup>.

Long-standing inflammation, as in ulcerative colitis, is a well established risk factor for colorectal cancer<sup>21</sup>, as are genetic predisposition<sup>22</sup> and smoking<sup>23</sup>.

#### 3.4 Genetic factors

The cause of colorectal cancer can be genetic or the consequence of long-standing inflammatory or sporadic. Approximately 75% of adenocarcinomas occur sporadically, and 25% of the patients are thought to develop colorectal cancer secondary to familial syndromes<sup>22</sup>. However, only 5% of cases can be identified as

the result of a defined genetic condition. The best-known syndrome is hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer or HNPCC, which involves a defect in one of the mismatch repair genes (MMR). Other genetic syndromes include familial adenomatous polyposis syndrome (FAP), in which there is a mutation in the tumour suppressor gene APC (adenomatous polyposis coli), Peutz-Jeghers syndrome and juvenile polyposis syndrome<sup>22</sup>.

Traditionally, the dominant theory of colorectal cancer development has been the adenoma-carcinoma sequence, which posits that carcinomas of the colon evolve from pre-existing, pre-malignant lesions, such as adenomas<sup>24</sup>. However, only a few adenomas transform into cancer<sup>24</sup>. On the other hand, malignant tumours of the colorectum derived from flat or depressed *de novo* lesions of the mucosa are described in up to 30% of cases without preceding polypous lesions<sup>25</sup>

There are two histological types of polyps, adenoma polyps and hyperplastic polyps. Hyperplastic polyps are probably not associated with an increased risk of cancer. The transformation of polyps from adenoma to carcinoma involves several genetic alterations:

- a. Chromosomal instability
- b. Epigenetic changes
- c. Microsatellite instability

*Chromosomal instability* represents changes at the chromosomal level, with alterations in the number of chromosomes or parts of the chromosomes in all somatic cells. Mutation of the APC gene is one cause of this type of alteration<sup>22, 26</sup>.

*Epigenetic changes* involve changes in DNA methylation that do not alter the genome but which do alter the expression of certain genes and which can turn off gene expression.

*Microsatellites* are repetitive sequences of DNA. The length of these microsatellites varies greatly from person to person, but each person has microsatellite sequences of

a set length. These repeated sequences are common and normal. If the DNA repair genes are defective (e.g. mismatch repair genes), these sequences are more prone to have changes that result in alterations in genes and thus in altered protein expression.

Clinically, microsatellite instability can be detected in 15–20% of sporadic colorectal cancers. These cancers are associated with particular clinical and morphological findings;<sup>27-30</sup> specifically, they are more often found in the right colon and are often larger tumours that show low differentiation and that have a low incidence of metastases. Chromosomal instability is found in 80–85% of patients with colon cancer, and are more often in the left side of the colon and show a higher frequency of metastatic spread.

## 4. Clinical presentation and diagnosis

Early stage colorectal cancer is asymptomatic. Clinical symptoms are scarce and develop slowly over time. There are, however, a few symptoms or signs that most often lead to diagnostic evaluation. These include lower gastrointestinal bleeding or occult bleeding with resultant microcytic/iron deficiency anaemia, changes in bowel habits and abdominal pain.<sup>31</sup> Colorectal cancer can also progress and present as large bowel obstruction or even as perforation, either at the site of the tumour or proximally, usually in the caecum due to ischemia of the bowel wall as the result of dilatation of the proximal colon and increased tension in the bowel wall. Up to 20–25% of colon cancer cases present as emergencies; in contrast, only a small number of rectal cancer cases present as emergencies<sup>32, 33</sup>.

Locally advanced tumours may present with other symptoms, such as with pneumaturia if a colovesical fistula is present, with hydronephrosis if the growth obstructs the ureter or with other symptoms, depending on the tumour location.

## 4.1 Diagnosis

There are several aspects of the colorectal cancer patient evaluation. First, a diagnosis must be established; second, the extent of the disease must be established; and third, the patient's fitness for treatment must be determined.

The diagnosis is usually made in the elective setting via endoscopy, i.e. colonoscopy and/or proctoscopy. The barium enema technique used in the past has been mostly abandoned, and virtual colonoscopy, or CT colonography, is currently considered just as good as colonoscopy for detecting cancers<sup>34</sup>. Several studies have shown a detection rate of >95% for polyps  $\geq$ 10 mm and close to 100% sensitivity for cancer<sup>35</sup>; thus, this modality has gained popularity in recent years. However, colonoscopy is still the gold standard, as it is known to have high sensitivity and specificity. The effectiveness and sensitivity depend, however, on the skill and experience of the endoscopist, both in terms of reaching the caecum and detecting the relevant pathology<sup>36</sup>. For rectal cancer, in addition to colonoscopy, clinical examination (digital palpation and rigid proctoscopy) is of the greatest importance for correctly interpreting modern imaging results. This is the key for describing the clinical appearance of the tumour, such as the correct distance from the anal verge and upper level of the pelvic floor to the inferior border of the tumour, and for noting signs of tethering or infiltration into neighbouring structures. Correct interpretation of imaging results is critical for making the best treatment decisions regarding choice of surgical procedures or use of neoadjuvant preoperative treatment.

### 4.2 Preoperative workup

For assessing the distant spread of colorectal cancer, traditional imaging consisted of plain ultrasound of the liver and a chest x-ray examination. However, CT scan of the chest has a higher sensitivity (75–87%)<sup>36</sup> and is usually the method of choice nowadays. For the liver, both contrast-enhanced CT examination and contrast-enhanced ultrasound have higher sensitivity and specificity and are the preferred methods<sup>36</sup>. Accordingly, it is currently recommended in many countries that CT scan of the abdomen and chest should be performed as part of the routine work-up, with supplementation of other examinations if relevant, such as MRI of the liver, contrast-enhanced ultrasound of the liver, gynaecological examination, cystoscopy or other urologic examinations (cystography, urography). PET (positron emission tomography) combined with CT is a new modality that focuses on metastatic lesions that are hard to detect by imaging, but PET has not yet become a routine part of the preoperative workup<sup>37</sup>.

At present, serum-carcinoembryonic antigen measurement (CEA) is the only biochemical tumour marker that is used widely for colorectal cancer. Although, CEA is limited as a diagnostic aid as about one-third of patients have normal levels, its role in follow-up is better defined<sup>27,38</sup>. However, highly elevated preoperative CEA levels indicate disseminated disease.

#### Preoperative workup for rectal cancer

For rectal cancer, there is convincing evidence that some tumours should be treated with preoperative radiochemotherapy when the local tumour staging indicates locally advanced disease. In contrast, preoperative neoadjuvant treatment is virtually never indicated in colon cancer for localised tumours without metastases. The decision to give preoperative radiochemotherapy for rectal cancer is based on a MRI scan or/and endorectal ultrasound. Both modalities have advantages and disadvantages in terms of overstaging and understaging errors for T- and N-status.

MRI is usually the method of choice for staging, and T3 and T4 staging by MRI is correct in approximately 85% of tumours<sup>39, 40</sup>. Even more importantly, MRI can predict involvement of the circumferential resection margin by the tumour with a sensitivity of 94% and a specificity of 85%<sup>41</sup>. The MERCURY trial showed that MRI could predict the circumferential resection margin within 0.5 mm of the margin found by histopathology examination<sup>42</sup>. Nodal staging is less accurate, with 85% of predicted lymph nodes on MRI confirmed by histopathological examination; in addition, a negative MRI cannot predict negative nodes.<sup>40</sup>

#### Endorectal ultrasound (ERUS)

One study showed that ERUS is accurate for early stages of tumours (i.e., intramucosal neoplasia, T1 and T2), with a sensitivity of 94% and a specificity of 86%; however, its accuracy is lower in more advanced cancers<sup>43</sup>. There are still limitations regarding N-stage, and the mesorectum and peritoneum cannot be visualised. This is a serious limitation in terms of predicting involvement of the circumferential resection margin. Thus, the role of ERUS in more advanced tumours is limited compared to MRI<sup>40</sup>.

In 1990, randomised trials compared preoperative radiotherapy with postoperative therapy and also compared preoperative therapy of different doses to surgery alone, along with the addition of chemotherapy<sup>44</sup>. Preoperative radiotherapy showed lower local recurrence rates, but there was no effect on survival compared to postoperative

radiotherapy<sup>45</sup>. It was also demonstrated that postoperative radiotherapy had greater toxicity and was associated with lower compliance<sup>46</sup>.

Two important randomized studies compared preoperative radiotherapy with surgery alone.<sup>47, 48</sup>. Both studies found that preoperative radiotherapy reduced the risk of local recurrence by approximately 50%. The Swedish trial, but not the Dutch TME trial, showed an influence on survival. The Swedish trial was performed before TME surgery was established. Results from these trials resulted in guidelines in Sweden and the Netherlands that are more liberal in terms of the use of preoperative radiotherapy is restricted by criteria indicating circumferential resection margin (CRM) involvement. This is based partly on one of the studies from the Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry showing that a predicted CRM of  $\leq$ 3 mm is a risk factor for local failure<sup>49</sup>.

Accordingly, the Norwegian guidelines as of 2010 state that patients with T4 tumours or with tumours that have a predicted CRM of  $\leq$ 3 mm from either the tumour or a malignant deposit, i.e. a lymph node or satellite tumour, should be offered preoperative radiochemotherapy. Further, if a non-radiated tumour turns out to have involved CRM, postoperative radiochemotherapy is recommended.

#### 4.3 Fitness for treatment

Treatment of colorectal cancer is associated with an overall morbidity of 15–20%<sup>50</sup> and a perioperative mortality of 3–5% <sup>51</sup>. Due to the characteristics of the disease, half of the patients are elderly and have increased comorbidities; thus, assessment of fitness for treatment is particularly important to achieve the best possible treatment outcome<sup>52, 53</sup>. While curing the cancer is the major treatment goal for the majority of patients, elderly and frail patients may be better served by an approach tailored to their physical and mental condition in terms of developing an individual treatment goal. It has been shown that even octo- and nonagenarians tolerate surgery for colorectal cancer quite well provided that risk factors are identified and primary

surgery is optimised to minimize complications<sup>54</sup>. This involves a general medical examination with a special focus on respiratory and cardiovascular status. In particular, the following may need attention or treatment in order to minimize perioperative risk factors: poor nutritional status, poorly controlled diabetes mellitus, frailty, jaundice, previous surgery, previous pulmonary embolus or deep vein thrombosis, dementia, reduced kidney function and other conditions. Anaemia may need to be treated. Finally, the function of the sphincter apparatus needs to be assessed to make an informed decision of whether to use a stoma.

## 5. Staging

Staging, i.e. systematic examination of the patient to determine the extent of the malignant disease, is very important for determining the patient's prognosis. Staging is even more important for making the best treatment decisions for the individual patient. The first classification system that had clinical importance was proposed by Dukes in 1930. This system was based on the pathologist's detailed description of the removed specimen with regard to tumour invasion into or beyond the bowel wall and assessment of whether regional lymph nodes were affected by metastatic tumour cells<sup>55</sup>:

<u>Stage A:</u> Growth of the primary tumour limited to the wall of the rectum or colon, without extension into the perirectal or pericolic tissue

<u>Stage B:</u> The growth of the primary tumour extends through the bowel wall into the perirectal or pericolic tissue

<u>Stage C:</u> *Any level of growth of the primary tumour combined with the presence of metastases to the regional lymph nodes are involved with the tumour* 

<u>Stage D:</u> Presence of disseminated disease regardless of any level of tumour growth or lymph node metastases

The clinical importance of Dukes' classification system stems from its foundation on lymph node status, which has strong prognostic power; in fact, the presence of lymph node metastases is currently considered the single most important factor for predicting treatment outcomes and is the main criterion for determining the use of adjuvant chemotherapy.

In the years that followed, it became clear that additional factors influenced prognosis and that there was need for a more detailed classification system, and the "tumournode-metastasis" or TNM staging system was introduced in 1978. The latest (AJCC 7<sup>th</sup> edition) version of the TNM staging system is shown below.

## 5.1 T categories for colorectal cancer<sup>56</sup>

Tx: Primary tumour cannot be assessed

T0: No evidence of primary tumour

Tis: Carcinoma in situ; intraepithelial or invasion of lamina propria

T1: Tumour invades submucosa

T2: Tumour invades muscularis propria

T3: Tumour invades through the muscularis propria into pericolorectal tissues

T4a: Tumour penetrates to the surface of the visceral peritoneum

T4b: Tumour directly invades or is adherent to other organs or structures

## 5.2 N categories for colorectal cancer<sup>56</sup>

Nx: Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed

N0: No regional lymph node metastasis

N1: Metastasis in 1–3 regional lymph nodes

N1a: Metastasis in one regional lymph node

N1b: Metastasis in 2-3 regional lymph nodes

**N1c:** Tumour deposit(s) in the subserosa, mesentery, or nonperitonealized periocolic or perirectal tissues without regional nodal metastasis

N2: Metastasis in 4 or more regional lymph nodes

N2a: Metastasis in 4-6 regional lymph nodes

N2b: Metastasis in 7 or more regional lymph nodes

## 5.3 M categories for colorectal cancer<sup>56</sup>

M0: No distant metastasis
M1: Distant metastasis
M1a: Metastasis confined to one organ or site
M1b: Metastasis in more than one organ/site or the peritoneum

The Cancer Registry of Norway, established in 1951, has traditionally used the terms "localised" or "regional" in its main database to indicate lymph node metastases.<sup>57</sup> However, the Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry, and (after 2007) the Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry, uses the TNM classification system. For this reason, the two first papers in this thesis, which are based in part on data from the main database of the CRN, were limited in terms of being able to distinguish more than only between lymph node positive and lymph node negative disease. The TNM classification (AJCC 6<sup>th</sup> edition) was used in paper III.

## 6. Treatment of colorectal cancer

#### 6.1 Treatment options

The principles of surgery for colorectal cancer are the same as for open or laparoscopic surgery, but the surgery can be performed with either curative or palliative intention. For the universal goal of curative resection, it is important to remove the tumour with a sufficient margin proximal or distal to the tumour and to ensure sufficient removal of the mesocolon or mesorectum with its vascular pedicle and its accompanying lymph nodes. For palliative procedures, the clinician must make the best choices according to the individual treatment goals to preserve the best possible quality of life. These choices can include limited resection, a bypass, a stoma or endoscopic procedure, stenting of an obstructed colon or argon laser treatment of a bleeding tumour.

#### 6.1.1 Curative or palliative resection

About 25–30% of colorectal cancer patients present with disseminated disease at the time of diagnosis, and about 30–40% of patients who are operated with curative intent will be diagnosed with recurrence during follow-up. The last years, the distinction between curative and palliative resection has become blurred. Most people agree that the presence of widespread carcinomatosis is an indication for palliative procedures, or even for options other than surgery. Widespread lymph node metastasis, i.e. metastasis outside the normal resection margins, widespread lung metastases and/or disseminated liver metastases indicate palliative treatment. On the other hand, resectable pulmonary or liver metastases, and even limited carcinomatosis, are now treated in a multimodal fashion that includes surgery and chemotherapy. The use of intraperitoneal chemotherapy combined with hyperthermia (HIPEC) shows a 5-year survival of 20–50%<sup>58</sup>. Careful evaluation of all patients by a multidisciplinary team (MDT) is now considered the standard of care. It is important that the MDT includes competence with curative and palliative treatment.

#### 6.2 Colon cancer

The mainstay in the treatment of colon cancer with intention to cure is removal of the tumour with its accompanying draining lymph nodes. To achieve curative surgery, a sufficient margin (5–10 cm) on both sides of the tumour is removed, and an adequate length of the supplying vessels with the draining lymph nodes is removed en bloc as well. The extent of blood vessel ligation is still debated (i.e., D2 or D3 resection, Figure 4). If the tumour is invading another organ, it is crucial to remove the other organ en bloc whenever possible. These principles apply regardless of whether open or laparoscopic resection is performed. As an exception to these general rules, removal of a small possibly polypous tumour by endoscopic resection can be sufficient treatment when the tumour is either Tis or T1 with a sufficient free margin and without invasion into deeper layers of the submucosa.<sup>59</sup>

Following excision, bowel continuity is restored if the patient's general health is adequate. The patient's general health must be taken into consideration when deciding upon use of a stoma because of the risk of complications. Anastomotic leakage is associated with mortality of up to 39%<sup>60</sup>, and data also suggest that in addition to the risk of postoperative mortality, there is also decreased long-term survival<sup>61</sup>. The risk factors that are typically reported include multivisceral resections, low anterior resections and general fitness of the patient, as well as preoperative nutrition status, blood supply, anastomotic tension and operation in an emergency setting<sup>62</sup>.

The extent of colon resection is determined by the level of ligation of the blood supply, and, accordingly, the number of lymph nodes that are removed. The more central and radical the surgery, the greater the loss of blood supply to the remaining colon and the longer the segment of colon that has to be removed. There are diverging opinions on how radical surgery should be, and this remains an on-going debate<sup>63,64</sup>.

If there are signs of adherence or infiltration into other organs, such as the small bowel, abdominal wall, uterus or bladder, but no other signs of advanced disease or distant metastases, efforts should be made to remove the tumour en bloc to achieve an RO resection (i.e. macroscopically- and microscopically-free margins); still, complete removal of all cancer tissue is an unconditional prerequisite for a favourable prognosis<sup>65</sup>.



Figure 4. Colon resection: a) D1 resection with removal of only th elymph nodes near the tumour; b) D3 resection with removal of the central lymph nodes as well. Source: Norwegian Directorate of Health, Nasjonalt handlingsprogram for diagnostikk og behandling av kreft i tykk- og endetarm

What is less controversial is the importance of operating in the correct embryological planes in complete mesocolic excision or CME surgery. In the early 1980s, Heald showed that for rectal cancer, removing the mesorectum with its intact fascia resulted in a better prognosis than if the fascia was not removed.<sup>8</sup> Recent results suggest that the same holds true for colon cancer<sup>66</sup>. The type of resection depends on the location of the tumour. Figure 5 shows the most common types of resection according to tumour location.

In 2007, Hohenberger et al.<sup>64</sup> published a study showing a remarkable increase in survival of colon cancer patients in recent decades at his institution, with overall 5-year survival of 90% in the most recent period for patients with stage I, II and III colon cancer. He introduced the concept of CME for colon cancer based on the same principles that support TME for rectal cancer. In addition, he advocated for central dissection with removal of the lymph nodes closest to the superior mesenteric artery on the right side and removal of the inferior mesenteric artery on the left side. For cancers in the transverse colon, he also recommended removing the lymph nodes along the greater curvature of the stomach. Hohenberger et al. showed that patients who had more than 28 lymph nodes removed had a better prognosis than patients with fewer than 28 lymph nodes removed.

In a study conducted in Leeds, England, West et al.<sup>67</sup> looked at the quality of the removed specimens and found that intact mesentery of the colon was related to better survival compared to non-intact mesentery. He went on to compare the English specimens with specimens from Erlangen, Germany (from the institution with which Hohenberger is affiliated) and from a Japanese institution. West et al. found that almost all specimens from Erlangen had an intact mesentery, in contrast with approximately 50% of those in Leeds and 70% in the Japanese medical centre<sup>66, 68</sup>.

Several studies show better survival for patients in whom more lymph nodes are removed and identified<sup>69, 70</sup>. Some claim that this is due to better staging and to additional use of chemotherapy, while others claim that a more central dissection with removal of malignant lymph nodes in itself can influence prognosis<sup>64</sup>. Still others claim that tumours with many enlarged lymph nodes may have different biological properties or that the patient may have a more activated immune system and therefore a better prognosis. Tumours with microsatellite instability tend to have more lymph nodes identified<sup>28</sup>.

An American study showed that there was a trend of increased lymph node harvest over time but that this did not influence the proportion of patients with lymph node positive disease<sup>71</sup>. Survival increased even though the number of stage III patients did

not, calling into questioning the role of stage migration as the reason for survival gain.

One randomized trial and several additional trials compared D2 resection and D3 resection for sigmoid cancers.<sup>72</sup> A slight survival gain was seen with central ligation. On the other hand, studies investigating the location of the malignant lymph nodes found that in approximately 5% of sigmoid cancers, the only malignant lymph nodes with metastases were seen apically in the D3 area, i.e. so-called "skipped metastases"<sup>73</sup>. Finally, with regard to lymph node harvest in rectal cancer, a multivariate analysis showed that preoperative chemoradiotherapy reduces the lymph node harvest, probably by reducing the size of the nodes and thus making it harder to find and remove them<sup>74</sup>.

There are several treatment options for obstructing left-sided colon cancer. Recently, use of a self-expanding metallic stent (SEMS) has become an option that is termed "a bridge to surgery." The reason for this term is that substantial morbidity and mortality is associated with acute surgery for left-sided bowel obstruction<sup>75</sup>. Therefore, by using SEMS, the tumour can be reopened with a stent; subsequently, the obstructed bowel can deflate, the patient can recover and definite surgery can be performed in an elective setting with reduced mortality. There has been some criticism regarding the possibility of perforation of the tumour, tumour spillage and reduced long-term survival<sup>76</sup>. No clinical trial has been performed that randomises patients between SEMS and subtotal colectomy. One study was ended early due to serious complications<sup>77</sup>.

e











Figure 5. The most common surgical resections of the colon: a) right hemicolectomy; b) extended right hemicolectomy; c) subtotal colectomy; d) left colectomy; e) resection of the sigmoid colon. Source: Norwegian Directorate of Health, Nasjonalt handlingsprogram for diagnostikk og behandling av kreft i tykk- og endetarm

## 6.3 Rectal cancer

In addition to the principle of removal of the tumour with its accompanying lymph nodes, there are some key differences between rectal and colon cancer. First, the distance to the anal sphincter plays a major role for the choice of procedure. Second, the rectal tube is, at least for the lowest part, enveloped by vital structures of the pelvis and has to be dissected free using great care. Heald showed that the most important step in avoiding local recurrence is complete removal of the rectum, including the perirectal fat (which is enveloped by the mesorectal fascia) using meticulous dissection techniques. This technique, termed total mesorectal excision (TME), has become the standard of care during the past two decades. Third, there is strong evidence that some tumours of the rectum should be treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy before surgery<sup>78, 79</sup>. This is indicated when preoperative evaluation (i.e. clinical examination and imaging) shows that the circumferential resection margin or CRM may be threatened. According to current Norwegian guidelines, T4 tumours or tumours with predicted CRM  $\leq 3$  mm should be irradiated preoperatively<sup>80</sup>.

It is generally accepted that tumours in the upper part of the rectum (10–15 cm from the anal verge) should be dealt with using anterior resection, including removal of the distal part of the sigmoid colon and removal down to at least 5 cm distal of the tumour. This is termed partial mesorectal excision or  $PME^{80}$ . There is still a debate as to whether the vascular supply should be divided close to the departure from the aorta (central ligation of the inferior mesenteric artery) or after the departure of the left colic artery (superior rectal artery)<sup>63</sup>. Usually the colon is anastomosed to the remaining rectum with a stapler.

There are some specific things to be aware of when treating tumours in the middle and lower rectum. Whenever the tumour involves the sphincter apparatus, the decision to perform an abdominoperineal excision is not controversial. When the tumour is located in the lower rectum and above the pelvic floor, a low anterior resection is often feasible. A distal margin of at least 1 cm is considered adequate if the tumour is radiated preoperatively<sup>81</sup>. However, an anastomosis close to the pelvic floor may be associated with inferior functional results in terms of reduced continence, urge or emptying disorders<sup>82</sup>. Accordingly, these aspects must be discussed carefully with the patients before making a final decision about the surgical procedure. In cases involving a low anterior resection, a defunctioning stoma is recommended, which can be reverted after 6-12 weeks if the anastomosis appears to be healed.

Abdominoperineal excision has traditionally been performed with the patient in the lithotomy position. This position allows good access to the abdomen and pelvic cavity. However, the perineal part of the procedure may be influenced by limited access to the perineum and poorer visibility of the surgical field. Data from the Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry showed that abdominoperineal excision was associated with 4 times as many perforations and 2-3 times more R1 resections (involved margins) than was low anterior resection<sup>83</sup>. Further, conventional perineal dissection has been criticised as resulting in coning of the specimen at the level of the pelvic floor, leading to insufficient CRM. Recently, a new approach termed extended abdominoperineal excision was presented by Holm and coworkers<sup>84</sup>. This technique includes removal of the levator muscles together with the rectum. It avoids dissection into the plane between the distal rectum and the pelvic floor by using limited dissection from above to a level that is designated by the lower coccygeal joint and the seminal vesicles in males. Perineal dissection is performed with the patient in a prone jackknife position after completion of the transabdominal part of the procedure. This technique, which is increasingly being adopted by Norwegian surgeons, seems promising, although few long-term oncologic results are available<sup>85</sup>.

#### 6.4 Palliative interventions

While most surgical procedures for colorectal cancer are performed for the purpose of cure, some patients are treated with the intention to restore or maintain quality of life. Palliative intervention is beyond the scope of the thesis. Briefly, colorectal resection may be warranted when bleeding, perforation or bowel obstruction is present. Internal bypass or creation of a stoma should be considered. Over the last decade, colorectal

stenting has become an excellent alternative for many patients with incurable disease<sup>86</sup>. Another important scenario is the presence of an asymptomatic tumour with disseminated disease. There are several randomized trails at present that are testing whether patients with an asymptomatic primary tumour with disseminated disease benefit from a resection. Some earlier studies showed better survival for patients who had the tumour removed, but these studies were not randomised and they may have had selection bias<sup>87</sup>. However, the success of any palliative intervention depends strongly on an individualized approach that takes into account the wishes of the patient, the patient's functional status and where the patient is in terms of the course of the disease.
## 7. Histopathological evaluation

Histopathological examination of the surgical specimen is of crucial importance. The pathology report is the basis for confirming complete removal of the tumour (i.e. R0 resection), determining patient prognosis (i.e. TNM stadium) and guiding further treatment, e.g. adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with lymph node metastases. Careful pathological evaluation and reporting is just as important as careful surgery.

The pathology report should contain certain information, such as tumour localisation, diameter, histologic type, histologic grade, infiltration, shortest distance from tumour to resection margin, distance from tumour to the end of the resection margin, number of lymph nodes identified, number of lymph nodes with metastases, extramural venous or perineural infiltration, TNM classification, UICC stage and any other important pathological findings. Further, the quality of the surgical specimen, e.g. preservation of intact mesorectal fascia, should be reported as well.

In Norway, efforts have been made to standardise the pathology report. For this purpose, a national report template has been developed and its use is recommended for all pathology departments<sup>88, 89</sup>. However, so far fewer than half of the pathology departments use the national template<sup>88</sup>.

Additional information that should be included in the pathology report is still being discussed and might include localisation of positive lymph nodes, quality of the mesocolon, length of the removed apical vessel, area of the removed mesocolon<sup>66</sup> and perhaps even some genetic markers, such as MSI.<sup>29</sup>

## 8. Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry

Until the early 1990s, most clinicians held the traditional view that patients should be admitted to surgery after the diagnosis of cancer of the colon or rectum without further investigation; poor treatment outcomes were seen as a natural part of the disease. This was particularly true for rectal cancer, and local recurrence rates were reported as being 30% or even higher<sup>90</sup>. However, the British surgeon Bill Heald showed that local recurrences were mostly related to inferior surgical technique that was performed using stump manual dissection of the pelvic structures. This leads to incomplete removal of the perirectal fat (i.e. the mesorectum), leaving either metastatic lymph nodes or tumour satellites in the pelvis as the cause of recurrence. Furthermore, inferior surgical techniques were associated with either perforation of the rectum, causing spillage of tumour cells, or bleeding from the presacral venous plexus and a high frequency of pelvic nerve damage. Heald showed that local recurrences could be avoided by meticulous sharp dissection along the mesorectal fascia, thus removing the entire mesorectal fat. This is termed total mesorectal excision (TME).

In the early 1990s, the concept of TME was accepted as the national standard of surgery for rectal cancer. Late in 1993, the Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry (NRCR) was established. At this time, it became standard for all rectal cancer patients undergoing surgery to be registered prospectively, and each institution received feedback about their own results, including local recurrence and survival. The goal was to reduce local recurrence to approximately 10% by implementing TME surgery. This was paralleled by the introduction of TME surgery via surgical workshops led by Bill Heald. As a consequence, several low volume hospitals stopped treating rectal cancer, and rectal surgery was limited to surgeons trained in the Norwegian subspecialty of gastrointestinal surgery. Several publications have emerged from analysis of data from this registry that document the effects of these measures<sup>91-93</sup>. Starting in 2007, the NRCR was expanded to include colon cancer and became the Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry (NCCR). In contrast to the main database of the CRN, this registry includes a large number of clinical-pathological

variables and thus constitutes a national quality registry. The NCCR is considered to be the first quality registry of the CRN. As such, it serves as a prototype for emerging registries for other malignant diseases, such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and others.

## 9. Evolution of Norwegian Treatment Guidelines

The Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Group (NGICG) consists of surgeons and oncologists who are centrally involved in colorectal cancer and other relevant specialties. The NGICG initiated and promoted the NRCR and the development of Norwegian guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of colorectal cancer. Due to overall dismal outcomes, the main focus was on local control of rectal cancer as the predominant problem. The Norwegian policy focused on surgery as the most important key to improvement, while preoperative radiotherapy was used occasionally and purely at the discretion of the individual surgeon. From 1994 to 1996, TME was recommended and then considered mandatory for all hospitals that treated rectal cancer. From 2000, the guidelines recommended preoperative radiotherapy for T4 tumours or clinically fixed tumours. In 2003, the guidelines were modified to recommend obligatory preoperative imaging with MRI, preoperative radiotherapy for patients with predicted CRM  $\leq$ 3 mm and the compulsory use of a multidisciplinary team.

With regard to colon cancer, the treatment strategy was unchanged during the same time except for the recommendation of adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with pN+ disease up to 75 years of age. This recommendation was implemented in 1997–1998.

In 2010, the Norwegian guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of cancer of the colon and rectum were reformulated by the NGICG based on the best available evidence. The reformulation was endorsed by the National Health Directorate. The guidelines are publicly accessible as a comprehensive edition and are generally re-evaluated every other year. However, the NGICG is responsible for deciding when changes must be considered due to new evidence.

The NRCR may be considered vital in terms of setting the current national standard of care for colorectal cancer, and it has been the source of numerous research projects that serve as the basis for continuous scientific evaluation, reports and other efforts to further improve treatment outcomes of colorectal cancer in Norway.



Figure 6. Evolution of colorectal treatment guidelines in Norway.

Courtesy British Journal of Surgery

## 10. Aim of the study

The aim of this study was to analyse the impact of the implementation of national guidelines for the treatment of patients with colon and rectal cancer on outcomes at a national level. While treatment guidelines focused strongly on rectal cancer in terms of optimal local tumour control, adjuvant chemotherapy was introduced for the subgroup of patients with regional lymph node metastases, i.e. pN+ disease, who are  $\leq$ 75 years old.

The objectives of the study were as follows:

- 1. Paper I: To compare survival of patients curatively treated for cancer of the colon and rectum before and after implementation of national treatment guidelines
- Paper II: To study possible differences in survival between patients treated for colon or rectal cancer by analysing excess mortality, i.e. mortality related to colon and rectal cancer, during the 5-year period after diagnosis
- 3. Paper III: To investigate lymph node harvest in curative resection for colon cancer in a national cohort and to identify factors related to poor lymph node harvest and their influence on diagnosing lymph node positive disease

## 11. Patients and methods

## 11.1 Databases

We used data from the Cancer Registry of Norway (CRN) to analyse data from a national perspective.

Data from 1994–2003 in the main CRN database were used to analyse the survival of patients curatively resected for cancer of the colon or rectum before and after the introduction of national guidelines (objectives 1 and 2 in the previous section). Data from the quality registry of colorectal cancer, i.e. the Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry, for the years 2007 and 2008 were used to study factors related to differences in lymph node harvest in curative resection for colon cancer. Reporting of all patients with a diagnosis of cancer to the CRN and NCCR is mandatory by law in Norway, which ensures high completeness and quality of data.

## 11.2 Patients

We identified all patients diagnosed with cancer of the colon and rectum from January 1, 1994 to December 31, 2003 in the main CRN database. We combined these data with data from the Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry to obtain more detailed clinical information in order to differentiate between colon and rectal cancer. Tumours located up to 15 cm from the anal verge were defined as rectal cancer. All other tumours (>15 cm above the anal verge) were defined as colon cancer. Cancers of the colon or rectum were defined as histologically proven adenocarcinoma, and all other tumours were excluded from the analysis.

To analyse patients treated with curative intent, patients undergoing major resections were included while patients were excluded who were treated with minor procedures, such as local resections, polypectomies or non-resective procedures such as diverting stoma. Further, we excluded patients with more than one cancer at different sites, i.e. synchronous cancers, or who had cancers at different times, i.e. metachronous cancers, as well as patients with distant metastases at the time of surgery.

Mortality data were provided by the Norwegian Cause of Death Registry. To study a 5-year follow-up period, dates of death were provided up to December 31, 2008. Complete follow-up was ensured by use of the unique 11-digit personal number provided to every citizen of Norway. Patients who were alive on December 31, 2008 were censored, and patients who had emigrated during the 5-year period were excluded.

Regarding objective 3, detailed clinical and pathological data for all patients with colon or rectal cancer were available starting on January 1<sup>st</sup> from the Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry. We identified all patients with adenocarcinoma of the colon who were diagnosed in 2007 and 2008 and who underwent major curative resection using the same criteria for inclusion as applied for objectives 1 and 2., i.e. exclusion of patients treated with minor or non-resective procedures, distant metastases, those with pathological data missing, and those with either synchronous or metachronous tumours.

### 11.3 Time periods and time intervals

We compared data from 1994–1996 with data from 2001–2003. The Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry was established in late 1993; therefore reliable information that could differentiate between rectal and colon cancer was available in 1994. We wanted to compare the early period after introduction of national guidelines with a later period when the guidelines had been implemented for a while and when complete follow-up data were available for all patients with regard to 5-year survival. This study began in 2009; therefore, 2003 was the latest patient cohort we could use. The 1997-2000 period represents a time when adjuvant therapy began to be used for lymph node positive patients with colon cancer and a more systematic approach to preoperative radiotherapy was introduced.

To analyse 5-year mortality, this time span was divided into several time intervals. These time intervals were defined relative to each year post-surgery. In addition, the first year was subdivided in two intervals, 0-2 months and 3-12 months in order to have a measure of 60-day postoperative mortality. We chose to use 60 days rather than 30 days (which is more usual) for two main reasons. First, recent studies have shown an increased rate of death >30 days postoperatively compared to the general population, which may be related to improved perioperative care<sup>94</sup> that extends the postoperative time interval in which there are deaths that may be related to surgery. Second, our dataset includes the date of diagnosis but not the date of surgery. To ensure the anonymity of the patients, the diagnosis was approximated as the first or the fifteenth of each month, whichever was nearest the date of diagnosis.

#### Statistics

Continuous variables were tested for normality. Non-normally distributed continuous variables were reported as median values as a measure of central tendency and compared by the Mann-Whitney U-test. Categorical variables were analysed by contingency tables and compared by the Chi-square test. Multivariable analysis was performed when appropriate by logistic regression analysis. P-values <0.05 were regarded as significant.

#### Survival analysis

Survival analysis was performed to address objectives 1 and 2 of the study. Survival is one of the most important outcome measures in cancer treatment. Because death may occur from causes unrelated to cancer, these other causes contribute to mortality. To compare treatment outcomes with regard to major changes in treatment guidelines at the national level as defined by objectives 1 and 2, information about cancer-related deaths was considered essential. However, reliable information on the true cause of death was not available for all patients reported to the Norwegian Cause of Death Registry. The use of *relative survival* can compensate for this lack of information<sup>95</sup>. This method provides a measure of the deaths in a group of patients with a given disease by comparing the number of deaths in the patient group with a patient group matched for age and sex, the members of which are assumed not to

have the disease in question (colon or rectal cancer for our study). We calculated relative survival by matching the major demographic characteristics of the patients to subjects in the general population using the Norwegian population life tables as provided by Statistics Norway for the study period. Comparisons between groups were made using maximum likelihood estimates.<sup>96</sup>

Notably, we compared the two groups in two time periods, i.e. 1994 –1996 and 2001–2003. Life tables show that a 70-year-old in 2001 was expected to live 1.6 years longer than a 70-year-old in 1994. This is due to generally improved health in the population. Using relative survival corrects for this factor by comparing the patient group with members of the general population who were the same age at the same time as the patients.

#### **Excess hazard**

The mortality of patients, i.e. hazard to die, can be expressed as the hazard to die of the general population added to the hazard to die related to the disease, i.e. excess hazard.

To estimate the excess hazards of patients with colon or rectal cancer during various time intervals in their 5-year follow-up periods (objective 2 of the study), we calculated the average rate of death over a time interval multiplied by the length of the time interval and then expressed this as the number of excess deaths per 1000 patient-years.<sup>97</sup>

The baseline excess hazard is often estimated as a stepwise function<sup>98</sup> but can also be estimated as a smoothed function<sup>99</sup>. We used a stepwise baseline excess hazard. When we simultaneously reported excess hazard ratios for each time interval during the 5-year follow-up, we used a 1% level for the inference in each single time interval to guard against type 1 errors in multiple testing. This 1% level corresponds to the use of an overall 5% level with a Bonferroni correction for multiple testing.

Statistical analysis was performed using the software package PASW Statistics 18.0 for Mac (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) R 2.9.2 (www.r-project.org) with the R-

package "relsurv" was used for the relative survival calculations and excess hazards calculations. $^{100}$ 

## 12. Results

#### 12.1 Paper I

The first study included 19,053 patients who had undergone curative resection for colon or rectal cancer. The study showed an increase in relative survival from the 1994–1996 period to the 2001–2003 period, both for colon cancer (73.8 vs. 78.0%, p<0.001) and rectal cancer (72.1 vs. 79.6%, p<0.001). However, when comparing patients with colon cancer and rectal cancer, there was significantly better relative survival for rectal cancer patients in the 2001–2003 period (p=0.03) while no difference in relative survival was observed in the 1994–1996 period. Improved relative survival in colon cancer patients was mainly seen in 2001–2003 in those with pN+ disease (50.7 vs. 62.1% for colon cancer and 47.6 vs. 67.2% for rectal cancer, respectively). While this was true only for colon cancer patients under 75 years i.e. those for whom adjuvant chemotherapy was recommended, relative survival increased in all age groups for rectal cancer.

### 12.2 Paper II

To investigate the differences in survival outcomes in patients with colon or rectal cancer, we studied the excess death at different time intervals after surgery for colon and rectal cancer patients during the time periods 1994–1996 and 2001–2003. A total of 11,437 patients who had undergone curative resection were included. For patients treated from 1994–1996, excess mortality was similar in colon and rectal cancer patients in all time intervals. For those treated in 2001–2003, excess mortality was significantly lower in rectal cancer patients than in colon cancer patients perioperatively (in the first 60 days: excess mortality ratio=0.46, p=0.007) and during the first 2 postoperative years (2–12 months: excess mortality ratio=0.54, p=0.010; 1–2 years: excess mortality ratio=0.60, p=0.009). However, excess mortality in rectal cancer patients during late follow-up, i.e. 4–5 years postoperatively (excess mortality ratio=2.18, p=0.003).

### 12.3 Paper III

Paper III analysed the number of LNs harvested during curative resections for colon cancer and investigated the possible factors leading to poor harvest, which was defined as  $\leq$ 8 LN. A total of 2,879 patients were included in the study. The median number of LNs harvested was 14. While 69.9% of the patients had adequate LN harvest ( $\geq$ 12 LNs), 14.4% had poor LN harvest. The factors that were analysed to determine whether they were associated with poor LN harvest included age group, sex, tumour characteristics, specimen characteristics and the use of the national pathology report template.

Multiple logistic regression analysis showed that male sex, age >75 years, sigmoid tumours, pT category 1–2, failure to use the pathology report template and a distance of  $\leq$ 5 cm from the tumour to the bowel resection margins were all independent factors for poor LN harvest. Age <65 years, pT category 3–4 and poor tumour differentiation were independent predictors of stage III, i.e. pN+, disease. An increase in the number of harvested LNs did not show a corresponding increase in stage III disease when we compared patients with  $\leq$ 8, 9–11 and  $\geq$ 12 harvested LNs. Moreover, use of the national report template was not associated with an increase in the proportion of patients with stage III disease.

## 13. Discussion

This thesis analysed the impact of implementation of national guidelines on treatment outcomes of patients with cancer of the colon and rectum. Paper I demonstrated significant improvement in relative survival for patients with colon and rectal cancer undergoing curative surgery over a 10-year period. This improved survival emerged during time periods, i.e. from the 1994–1996 time period to the 2000–2003 time period, when new strategies for the management of patients with CRC were introduced and implemented at the national level. Notably, this survival increase was more predominant in patients with rectal cancer compared to colon cancer. Thus, at the end of the study period, the long-term survival of patients with rectal cancer had changed from being worse than for colon cancer patients to being better than for colon cancer patients.

As far as we know, this is the first time this has been documented in the literature for patients undergoing curative treatment for CRC. We believe these results reflect the effects of systematic changes in disease management, with a major focus on rectal cancer. Implementation of treatment changes was mandatory and well documented by the NRCR.<sup>101</sup> It is reasonable to think that the Norwegian health care system, which ensures that high quality health care is provided to the entire population, was an important factor for the implementation of guidelines and thus for the major improvements in patient outcomes. In the past, studies have reported a worse prognosis for rectal cancer patients compared to patients with colon cancer.<sup>102, 103</sup> A recent study from Sweden showed that 5-year relative survival was similar for rectal and colon cancer.<sup>104</sup> The same was found in a Dutch study, i.e. worse prognosis for rectal cancer in the past and later a catch-up for rectal cancer resulting in similar survival statistics<sup>105</sup>. However, these studies included patients with all stages of cancer, irrespective of treatment goals (i.e. curative vs. palliative) while the current study analysed CRC patients undergoing curative surgery. Our results are in line with the hypothesis that the focus on rectal surgery has resulted in measurably improved outcomes on a national level.

There is some question about whether these changes might be related to factors other than improved treatment. For example, one possible explanation for the results could be an earlier diagnosis in the 2001–2003 period compared to the 1994–1996 period. If this was the case, it would explain better survival in both groups, but it would not explain the difference between colon cancer and rectal cancer patients. We do not believe that this is the explanation as there was no CRC screening in either period, and, more importantly, there was a stage migration towards more patients with lymph node positive disease in the later period. In fact, this observation could be interpreted as meaning that the diagnosis was made later in the 2001–2003 period, not earlier. We think this is more likely the result of better staging rather than a true change in stage. Therefore we think that the observed improvement in survival is reliable and is due to changes in treatment.

It is also important to ask whether the observed improvements in survival were the result of improved surgical technique (i.e. TME) for rectal cancer as compared to colon cancer or were due to other factors, such as better perioperative care, centralisation, chemotherapy or radiation. The effect of radiation on survival of patients with rectal cancer was reviewed in a Cochrane report that concluded that there was a 2% survival gain in the 5-year period after radiation<sup>106</sup>. However, this review included studies performed both before and after the TME surgery era. We think that the studies published prior to the TME era might skew the effect of radiation on survival towards falsely higher outcomes. Notably, a Dutch TME trial showed that patients randomised to preoperative radiation had a 50% lower probability of local recurrence, but survival was unchanged<sup>107</sup>. Moreover, only 9.7% of the rectal cancer patients in our study received radiotherapy. Accordingly, the use of radiation most likely is not the main explanation for the improved survival that we observed.

The recommendation of adjuvant chemotherapy, which was the only major change in colon cancer treatment, was limited to lymph node positive patients  $\leq$ 75 years old<sup>108</sup>. Interestingly, we did not see any survival effect in the patients with lymph node negative disease or in those patients with lymph node positive disease >75 years old.

Thus, the only increase in survival occurred in the group that were presumably given adjuvant chemotherapy. Therefore, we think that the increased survival in the colon cancer group was due mainly to adjuvant chemotherapy. Our findings are in line with a paper from the Netherlands in which a survival gain was seen for the youngest colon cancer patients but not in patients who were older than 75 years<sup>109</sup>. A recently published study also showed that the survival effect of adjuvant chemotherapy for patients >75 years is significant<sup>110</sup>.

Paper II analysed possible differences in excess mortality between colon and rectal cancer patients with regard to specific time periods, age  $\leq$  or > 75 years of age and lymph node status. The results did not show any significant survival difference for the first 60 days for either colon or rectal cancer. This contrasts with the findings of Mitry et al.<sup>111,112</sup> who claimed that the major improvement in survival for colorectal cancer is mostly due to better perioperative care. We found reduced mortality rates in the time intervals during later follow-up both for colon cancer and for rectal cancer. Interestingly, mortality rates for rectal cancer patients were significantly lower during the 3 first years of follow-up and then were significantly higher during the fifth year as compared to colon cancer patients. The excess mortalities translate into absolute numbers as follows: 2 patients out of 100 who were operated for colon cancer died the fifth year after surgery, but 4 patients out of 100 who were operated for rectal cancer died the fifth year. This is in contrast to the results of Engholm et al., who did not find any differences in mortality in the fifth year after surgery. However, that group studied the period 1999–2000 and included patients with all stages of cancers from several countries, whereas our study focused on patients who were curatively treated<sup>113</sup>.

Our observation of increased perioperative survival and better survival during the first years of follow-up has several possible explanations, such as improved intensive care or centralisation of surgical services. An English study reporting on 30-day mortality for colorectal cancer found wide variations in mortality, from 3% to 16%, and they also found lower 30-day mortality for rectal cancer compared to colon cancer<sup>114</sup>. Another plausible explanation is that colon and rectal cancer patients

present differently with regard to acute admissions. Recent studies report emergency operations in 25% of colon cancer patients and in only 1–3% of rectal cancer patients.<sup>33, 115</sup>. Unfortunately, our data do not provide sufficient clinical data with regard to emergency vs. elective presentation. However, according to a recent single-centre analysis in Norway, fewer emergency procedures were reported during early 2000 compared with previous decades, which may point to a generally lower rate of patients with acute presentation of CRC.<sup>116</sup> The findings from a Danish study are also notable in that they showed medical complications to be the main cause of early death after emergency surgery<sup>117</sup>. This underlines the importance of 24-hour availability of intensive care units, radiology and other services, which may be more accessible in larger hospitals.

The finding of inversed mortality rates, i.e. better survival for colon cancer patients than for rectal cancer patients the fifth year after surgery, was surprising. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report to describe this observation. The reason underlying the inversed mortality rates during the fifth year is unclear; however, we speculate that rectal cancer patients may experience more metastatic disease at the end of follow-up compared to colon cancer patients. According to the national guidelines, rectal cancer patients with pN+ disease should not receive adjuvant chemotherapy because of a lack of sufficient scientific evidence<sup>118, 119</sup>. This is not in line with findings of a recent Cochrane review, which reported a 17% reduced risk of death in rectal cancer patients treated with adjuvant chemotherapy<sup>120</sup>. A survival gain was also seen in a retrospective study in Sweden that investigated adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III rectal cancer<sup>110</sup>. In other words, the initial survival benefit, which is probably due to better control of the primary tumour, may be reduced or even inverted by later adverse events. Due to the use of relative mortality calculations, these finding are most likely related to either the disease or treatment. We hypothesize that increased distant spread at the end of follow-up may be the reason for this higher mortality. Our findings of lower mortality rates in patients with pN+ colon cancer aged  $\leq$ 75 years, i.e. those receiving adjuvant chemotherapy, may support this theory. However, we have no data to verify this hypothesis. Further

research should focus on possible differences in late recurrences in colon and rectal cancer.

Papers I and II showed that based on better outcomes for rectal cancer patients after implementation of treatment guidelines, there should be similar efforts to determine how to improve the outcomes of patients with colon cancer. In this respect, it seems obvious to focus on the quality of surgery for colon cancer. One of the strongest predictors for outcome after curative resections for colon cancer has been, and continues to be, the presence of lymph node metastases, i.e. pN0 or pN+. The presence of lymph node metastases prompts a recommendation for adjuvant chemotherapy. Accordingly, lymph node harvest is considered to be the major quality indicator for colon cancer surgery. The internationally accepted number of lymph nodes that should be harvested is at least 12, although some dispute this number<sup>121</sup>.

In Paper III, we studied lymph node harvest in a national cohort of patients curatively resected for colon cancer. The data from the NCCR demonstrated a high overall LN yield of a median of 14 LNs. Our observation that 69.9% of the patients had a LN harvest of  $\geq$ 12 LN is notable as this is more LNs than have been reported recently reported in other national cohorts<sup>122-127</sup>. While most other studies focus on harvesting the highest possible number of LNs , we wanted to identify factors associated with poor LN harvest. Specifically, we wanted to identify both factors that might be amenable to change, and those that were inherent to the disease. We found that poor LN harvest ( $\leq$ 8 LNs) was associated with male gender, increasing age, pT stage 1–2, resection margin < 5 cm, failure to use the pathology template and sigmoid resections.

These factors are discussed extensively in Paper III. Among the modifiable factors, both the surgeon and the pathologist are central in achieving adequate LN harvest. Surgeons should be aware that left-sided tumours, and in particular sigmoid cancers, need particular care in order to achieve both adequate resection margins and removal of sufficient LNs. Pathologists need to dissect meticulously to identify the largest possible number of nodes, possibly by using special fixating solutions. The number of

lymph nodes identified depends to a considerable extent on the pathologist, who must spend sufficient time and use agents that facilitate the identification of lymph nodes<sup>128, 129</sup>. Reese et al.<sup>130</sup> showed that training an assistant to harvest lymph nodes increased the yield from a median of 13 to 19 LNs from one time period (1999–2002) to another (2003–2006). Recently, Fan et al.<sup>131</sup> reviewed 334 CRC specimens for lymph nodes. They initially found 33.6% (122) of the patients had lymph node positive disease, but the review showed an additional 12 patients with stage III disease. This finding altered treatment in 14.8% of the patients. Moreover, considerable variations have been reported regarding the content and quality of pathology reports from different laboratories<sup>132</sup>. Some studies claim that use of a report template increases the LN harvest<sup>133, 134</sup> and improves the reporting of other key parameters<sup>135, 136</sup>. This is supported by our results, which showed that use of the report template was significantly associated with higher LN retrieval. Whether this difference is related solely to better reporting, or the ability to implement the national template as a proxy for high standard of pathological work is hard to say. However, the detection of patients with pN+ disease was not affected.

In addition to technical factors, the possible importance of tumour biology in LN retrieval has gained more attention. The finding of more lymph nodes on the right side of the colon may imply that that the surgery is better or that more tissue is removed, but it may also suggest that there are differences in tumour biology at different tumour sites. Different pathways of tumourigenesis in various parts of the bowel have been addressed and identified, including chromosome instability and microsatellite instability (MSI). A greater proportion of right-sided colon cancers are associated with MSI<sup>28</sup>. MSI, which is present in roughly 20–25% of right-sided colon tumours, has also been associated with a higher number of loco-regional LNs, which might contribute to a greater LN yield<sup>28, 137</sup>.

It is important to emphasize that the number of lymph nodes needed for adequate staging remains controversial<sup>138</sup>. Parsons et al. conducted a large study in the US that showed a gradual increase in the number of nodes removed over the course of two decades; however, there was no corresponding increase in the proportion of pN+

disease<sup>139</sup>. That study found a node positivity rate of close to 40%. A Swedish study found the same thing: there was a steady increase in the median lymph node harvest, from 7 lymph nodes in 1996–1999 to 18 in 2005–2009<sup>140</sup>. In this study, they found a node positivity rate of 41.9%, 40.9% and 41.6% in the three time periods that they looked at. This indicates that there might be a critical threshold of LNs that must be harvested. Beyond this number, further increase does not substantially increase the proportion of patients with pN+ disease. This is disputed by researchers who report a relationship between increased survival and increased lymph node harvest<sup>126, 141-143</sup>. These apparent differences may stem from the designs and methods of the various studies. While studies favouring extensive LN harvest are based mostly on results from institutional data<sup>64</sup>, those indicating a threshold number for optimal LN harvest (without an increase in pN+ disease beyond that threshold) are based mostly on data from large national databases<sup>126, 139</sup>. Accordingly, a fixed number for LN harvest as a measure of quality should be used with caution and should take into account both factors that are amenable to change as well as factors that are.

All three studies in this thesis have a number of limitations. Every study based on data from a large registry is limited in terms of the type and quality of the registration. For the first two papers, we had the patients' date of diagnosis but not the date of surgery. It is reasonable to suppose that for most of the patients, the time interval from diagnosis to surgery was limited, perhaps on the order of 2–6 weeks. However, patients with rectal cancer who received radiation preoperatively had a longer time to surgery, i.e. about three months. This might have some influence on data in the first follow-up time interval (i.e., 60-day data; Paper II). On the other hand, this was true for only a small proportion of patients (8% and 18% in the two periods, respectively). Further, we do not know whether all patients with colon cancer and pN+ disease actually received adjuvant chemotherapy: our analyses were based on the assumption that recommendations to offer this treatment to patients ≤75 years with pN+ disease were followed. However, we have reason to believe that this was a good assumption as there is a strong tradition of adherence to national directives in the health care system in Norway.

Further, the real golden standard of the number of lymph nodes needed to correctly identify all patients with pN+ disease remains unknown. If few LNs are reported, we do not know whether this is due to the surgeon or the pathologist or even due to the patient. When large volume hospitals are compared with lower volume hospitals, we have to assume there is a selection bias regarding which patients are treated where. When comparing different time periods, we found that fewer patients were offered curative resections in the 2001–2003 time period, suggesting better preoperative workup and selection. This may lead to increased survival according to the Will Rogers phenomenon<sup>144</sup>: exclusion of patients who are thought not to have metastases. Studying total survival without excluding those who were not operated and those with metastases could have avoided the latter. However, since our intent was to study the influence of implementation of national guidelines on patients operated with curative intention and on the quality of surgery, this possible source of error could not be avoided.

## 14. Conclusions

Increased attention on the management of colorectal cancer has been worthwhile. First, the focus on rectal cancer improved survival, which is currently even better than that of colon cancer. Secondly, adjuvant chemotherapy for lymph node positive patients in colon cancer seems advantageous. However, improvement of survival for patients with pN+ colon cancer > 75 years of age is lacking.

We found that mortality rates for colon and rectal cancer differed for various time intervals during the 5-year follow-up period. Even though colon cancer patients had higher excess mortality for the first years after surgery, the mortality rate of patients with rectal cancer was twice that of colon cancer patients during the 5<sup>th</sup> year of follow-up.

LN harvest is supposed to be a quality indicator of colon cancer surgery. The analysis of LN harvest in our national cohort of patients curatively treated for colon cancer showed that there are a number of factors associated with low LN harvest. While some of those factors could be modified by appropriate measures, such as optimizing surgery, pathological evaluation of the specimen and reporting, other factors related to the patient and tumour characteristics are not amenable to change. Optimal LN retrieval and evaluation remains an important objective in surgical treatment for curing colon cancer, but these factors have to be taken into account when using LN harvest as a measure of the quality of surgery.

## 15. Future perspectives

Our study revealed that patients with rectal cancer had better survival than patients with colon cancer after implementation of national guidelines focusing on this disease. This finding implies that there is a strong need to direct more attention to colon cancer. According to the results of Paper I, the subgroup of patients with pN+ disease >75 years of age who were not receiving adjuvant chemotherapy was a subgroup that did not show improved survival. This may indicate that treatment recommendations for those patients are suboptimal, and more research is needed to improve treatment for patients >75 years with pN+ colon cancer.

The finding of a doubled mortality rate in curatively treated patients with rectal cancer compared to colon cancer during the 5<sup>th</sup> year of follow-up is troublesome. Further research is needed to identify the possible causes, which may be related to the treatment or to the disease, such as late local recurrences or metastatic disease. Our data did not allow any conclusions to be drawn regarding the reason(s) for this difference. We hypothesise that metastases that occur during late follow-up may be one possible cause. If this hypothesis is confirmed, there may be a reason to reconsider adjuvant treatment recommendations with regard to adjuvant chemotherapy for rectal cancer patients with pN+ disease.

Regarding surgery for colon cancer, some new approaches to surgical treatment have been promoted recently, such as complete mesorectal excision (CME), which is analogous to the concept of TME for rectal cancer. While a number of institutional reports are promising, it is unclear whether this concept can be applied to colon cancer the way that TME applies to rectal cancer. Our study raises the question of whether there is the need to revisit the number of hospitals that offer curative surgery for colon cancer in Norway: For colon cancer, the number has remained unchanged at about 50 hospital, compared to the slightly less than 30 hospitals that treat rectal cancer. A re-evaluation of the hospitals that provide curative surgery for colon cancer requires additional and clearer outcome measures than just LN harvest, such as surgical complications and survival.

Finally, a number of new health technologies have emerged in recent years, such as robotic-assisted surgery, single port laparoscopic surgery and the principle of natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery (NOTES). Careful health technology assessment that is guided by relevant outcome measures must be the unconditional prerequisite to ensure the safe introduction of new surgical approaches that will maximise the benefits of surgery for patients with cancer of the colon and rectum.

# 16. Appendix

### Registration form for solid tumours. Cancer Registry of Norway, main database

MEL	DING TIL KREFTREGISTERET	SOLIDE SVULSTER		
Skjema i kraft fra 01.01.2003	LUOKS 55 13 Majorstueri, 0304 03LO	Non-solide svulster meldes på eget skjema		
PASIENT Fødselsnr.	Postnr. Postst	ed		
Ettemavn	Fomavn			
DELIANDI INCONSTITUCION				
Institution	Avdeling	DIAGNOSETIDSPONKT		
instances and a second se	- I linker at 15 a	Dag Mind År		
PRIMÆRTUMORS UTGANGSPUNKT: Organ og område inner	n organet (f. eks. «høyre lunge, overlapp») Side: H V	Bilat. Ikke relevant Side ukient		
MORFOLOGISK DIAGNOSE: Hovedgruppe og type (f. eks. «ac	enokarsinom, endometroid type»)			
	Anses sykdommen som	en klinisk sikker cancer? Ja Nei		
SYKDOMSTEGN, LEGEKONTAKT				
Hadde pasienten symptomer Ja Nei Funnet ved screen	ning Hvilke symptomer eller sykdomsteg	gn		
Dag Mnd År	Dag Mind År			
Narroppsiotpriste symptomer				
Arveiig aisposisjon for krett Nei Påvist Mistenk	t Hva slags?			
SYKDOMMENS UTBREDELSE PA DIAGNOSETIDSPUNKTET	(bestemt pa grunnlag av informasjon tilgje	engeng <i>tør</i> behandling) e-		
TNM: N M eller	Stadium klassifika	Isjon		
Beskrivelse av sykdomsutbredelsen på diagnosetidspunktet basert på all tilg	jengelig viten etter utredning og undersøkelse av e	vt. operasjonspreparat		
Gjennomvekst av naturlig granbograpping Ja Nei Primærtumors	<b>N</b> F	ANGITT		
Innveksti Storschlutz Ja Nei 🛛 Hvor	, <u> </u>	SPREDNING		
Regionale Ja Nei 🛛 Hvor		VÆRE		
Fjerne Ja Nei 🛛 Hvor		SYKDOMMENS		
		DIAGNOSE- TIDSPUNKT		
	År Preparatnummer	Laboratorium		
Klinisk undersøkelse alene Ja Nei Cytol	ogisk prep			
Bildediagnostikk (røntgen, Ja Nei Histol	ogisk prep.			
Evt. andre undersøkelser (f.eks. Ja Nei Histo biokjemisk u.s., skopi, stemal-	logisk prep.			
marg, kirurgisk eksplorasjon) Obdu	ksjons prep.			
PRIMÆRBEHANDLING				
Dag Mind År Startet når Ingen primærbehar	dling Primærbehandlingens siktemål	Helbredelse Palliasjon		
Ja Nei Hvilken?	Op.	metode (op. beskrivelse må vedlegges)		
Ja Nei Ja N Strålebehandling	ei 🛛 Hvilken			
Hormonbehandling	all the the the the test of te	Likeling institution?		
Cytostaticabehandling	gt? Hvilken behandling	Hviiken institusjon?		
Resttumor etter primærbehandling Ja, makroskopisk	Ja, mikroskopisk	Nei Vetikke		
OPPLYSNINGER SOM REGISTRERES HVIS IKKE PASIENTEN MOTSETTER SEG DET				
Røyker Ja Nei Tidligere røyker Motsetter: TILLEGGSOPPLYSNINGER	seg reg. Yfke	Motsetter seg reg.		
Dura Mad & Pacientansvarlin lene (Etternovn	formavn - trykte bokstaver)	ens underskrift		
Meldi:	Loge	Immer		
- iu.nummei	IU. 11			

### Registration form, Norwegian Rectal Cancer Registry, 1993 – 2006

Sykchus: SUS (1107) REGISTR REGISTR RECT ved laparotomi	mcancerregisteret ERIŅGSSKJEMA 'UMĊANCER' for cancer lavere enn 20 cm 'Dostnr. 'Basientdata (klistrelapp) F. nr Navn Postnr.							
PREOPERATIVE DATA								
Tumorkarakteristika	Utredning							
Avstand fra analåpningcm	CT bekken utført Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆							
Lokalisasjon fra kl til kl (sett nedenf	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $							
Mobil 🗅 🛛 Fiksert 🗆 Ukjent 🗆								
<b>Preoperativ strålebehandling</b> Ja □ Nei □ Dose	Pavist fjernmetastaser ved UL/C1/MR Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆 Hvor							
OPER								
Operasionsdata								
Dato/	Håndsydd 🗆 Dobbelstapl 🗆 Trippelstapl 🗆							
Ø. hjelp. opr. Ja $\Box$ Nei $\Box$								
Kurativt siktemål Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆 Usikkert 🗆	Ende-ende 🗆 Side-ende 🗆							
	J-Pouch/Reservoir Coloplastikk							
Kun avlastning 🗆 Annen op.	Avlastende stomi Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆							
Mesorectal excision Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆	Anastomosenivåcm over analåpning							
Perforasion rectum Ia 🗆 Nei 🗆								
Perforasion tumor $Ia \square$ Nei $\square$	Peropr. påvist							
Skylling rectumstump Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆	Synkron cancer Ja □ Nei □ Hvor Metastase Ja □ Nei □ Hvor							
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Innvekst Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆 Hvor							
Makrosk. resttumor Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆 Hvor	Peropr. reseksjon av (organer)							
POSIO	PERATIVE DATA							
i ostoperative komplikasjoner	Recluiv og metastaset							
Anastomoselekkasje Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆 Dato//	Lokalt recidiv Dato//							
Reoperasjon Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆 Dato//	Hvor							
Andre kompl Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆								
Hvilke	Metastaser Dato/ Hvor							
<b>Tilleggsbehandling etter primæroperasjon</b> Postoperativ strålebehandling Ja Nei Dose	Behandling etter recidiv og/eller metastaser Operert recidiv Dato// Operert metastase Dato//							
	Radikalt reoperert Ja 🗆 Nei 🗆							
Cytostatika								

Strålebehandling

Cytostatika

ja □ nei □ Dose.....

nei 🗆

ja 🗆

Ja 🗆 🛛 Nei 🗆

#### Registration form, Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Registry, from 2007 - 2012



MELDING TIL COLORECTALCANCERREGISTERET Kreftregisteret, Postboks 5313 Majorstuen, 0304 Oslo

#### Svulster i colon/rectum - skjema i kraft fra 01.01.2007

#### 1. PASIENT/BEHANDLINGSINSTITUSJON

Fødselsnr  _ _ _ _ _ _			Institusjon			
Fornavn			Avdeling			
Etternavn			○ Innlagt (	Poliklinisk D	ato   _ _	
Postnr  _ _  Poststed .			Utskrevet OI	live O Død		
2. MELDINGSTYPE (bare ett kryss)						
○ Primær tumor ○ Residiv*	Dato  _ _ _		<ul> <li>Metas</li> </ul>	tase* Dato  _		
○ Obduksjon** Dato  _ _ _						
3. SYKDOMSTEGN OG DIAGNOSTIKK				* Gå ti	l punkt 5 * *Fyll	kun ut punkt 4
Acualia association symptomer?	ja ∪ nei S	symptomaebu	it (maned/ar)			
Arveng predisposisjon O	) Ja ONei					
	) Ja, tumor sett	<ul> <li>Utført, tur</li> </ul>	nor ikke sett	○ Ikke utført		
	$\circ$ Ja, tumor sett $\circ$ Utført, tumor ikke sett $\circ$ Ikke utført					
	) Ja, tumor sett	O Utført, tur	nor ikke sett	O Ikke utført		
Cologiali (CI)	) Ja, tumor sett	○ Utført, tu	nor ikke sett	<ul> <li>Ikke utført</li> </ul>		
	) Ja, sikker tumo	ſ	ſ			
Biopsi av tumor C	Ja ONei	Pat. lab		Diagnosetidspur	nkt   _ _	
4. TUMORS LOKALISASJON						
Tumors lokalisasjon (Hvis flere, kr	yss av for de ak	tuelle)				
□ Appendix □	Cøkum		□ Ascendens		🗆 Høyre fleksu	r
□ Transversum □	Venstre fleksur		Descenden:	s	🗆 Sigmoideum	(≥ 20 cm)
□ Rectosigmoid (16-< 20 cm)	⊐ Rectum (< 16	cm fra analåp	ning på stivt s	kop)	cm	
	N	Nålt ved MR: ø	vre kant av m.	. puborektalis til	nedre kant av tun	nor cm
5. SYKDOMSUTBREDELSE VED DIAGN	NOSE					
			Utførte u	ndersøkelser (ba	asis for diagnosti	kk)
Levermetastaser O	Nei O Ja	○ Mistenkt	$\rightarrow$ $\Box$ Ultraly	rd □ CT	□ MR	🗆 Ingen
Lungemetastaser O	Nei O Ja	○ Mistenkt	$\rightarrow$ $\Box$ Rtg th	orax 🗆 CT	□ MR	□ Ingen
Andre fjernmetastaser (inkl. operit. carcinomatose)	Nei O Ja	○ Mistenkt	$\rightarrow$ $\Box$ Ultraly	rd □ CT	□ MR	🗆 Ingen
Hv	is ja, hvor:				CEA:	
Dybdevekst av tumor i 🛛 🕓	vbdevekst av tumor i Olitarmyegg (T1-T2)					
rectum og rectosigmoid	Giennom tarmy	-, enn (T3)		ud ⊓ CT		
0		(T4)				L ingen
		guil (14)			o ilda atta	
nan □ Strålehehandling □ Kiemoterani □ Padiokiemoterani □ Avlastando stomi □ Stanting						

7. BEHANDLING						
Operert	⊖ Ja	Dato  _ _ _	ONei Års	ak:		
Hastegrad	Elektiv     Akutt pga obstruksjon     Akutt pga perforasjon					
	Akutt pga annet					
Kirurgens preop. intensjon	○ Kurativt ○ Palliativt ○ Usikker ASA-score:					
GJENNOMFØRT OPERASJON	Opr. type	○ Åpen	○ Laparoskopi ○	Laparoskopi, konve	rtert åpen	
a) Reseksjon av tumor	○ Ja  ○ Nei (gå til b) Pat. lab					
Colon			Rectum			
🗆 Hemicol. dxt	🗆 Utvidet	hemicol. dxt	Fremre reseksjon	🗆 Hartmann		
Hemicol. sin	Utvidet hemicol. sin		Amputatio recti	Polypektomi		
Transv. reseksjon	Transv. + fleksurreseksjon		Lokal reseksjon	Transanal endoskopisk mikrokirurgi		
Sigmoidreseksjon	Subtota	□ Subtotal kolektomi □ Annen				
□ Annen						
<ul> <li>Medialt/sentralt først</li> </ul>	○ Lateralt	først	Anastomosenivå	cm over analåpr	ning	
Lymfeknutedisseksjon					-	
○ D3 Kar avsatt inntil a. mes.	sup./aorta		Anastomoseteknikk:			
<ul> <li>D2 Intermediær avsetting a</li> </ul>	D2 Intermediær avsetting av kar     O D2 Intermediær avsetting av kar     O D2 Intermediær avsetting av kar					
<ul> <li>D1 Tarmnær avsetting av ka</li> </ul>	ar					
Anastomose etter reseksjon	○ Ja	○ Nei Avl	astende stomi etter res./	' <b>anast.</b> ○ Ja	○ Nei	
Endestomi	⊖ Ja	○ Nei				
b) Operasion uten reseksion a	v tumorbære	ende tarmsenment:				
INTRAOPERATIVT FUNN/DIAGNOSE: KONSEKVENS:						
Levermetastaser		O Nei O Ia klir	isk sikker 🔿 Ia misten	kt □ Bionsi tatt		
Peritoneal met./carcinomat.		○ Nei ○ Ja, klin	iisk sikker ⊙ Ja, misten	kt 🗆 Biopsi tatt	Reseksion utført	
Lymfeknutemet. utenfor res.	område	○ Nei ○ Ja, klir	isk sikker ⊃ Ja, misten	kt  □ Biopsi tatt	Reseksion utført	
Innvekst i naboorgan		○ Nei ○ Ja, klir	isk sikker ⊃ Ja, misten	kt  □ Biopsi tatt	Reseksion utført	
Hvilke(t) organ:		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,-, ····		,	
Resttumor lokalt (kirurgens v	 (urderina)		_ larm lumor			
8. KUMPLIKASJUNEK TIL OPERASJON						
κοπρικαsjoner □ Nei □ Anastomoselekkasje □ Annen Spesifiser:						
ncoherozioni O Nei O Ja Dato III Spesifiser:						
9. ETTERBEHANDLING						
Planlagt etterbehandling 🗆 Nei 📄 Ikke avklart 🗇 Ja Hvis ja: 🗆 Strålebehandling 🔅 🗖 Kjørnsteranj 🔅 Padjokjemoteranj 🖓 Kjørnst for motastasor						
Institusion:						
,						
Meldingsdato Meldt av	(navn (blok	khokstaver) + ID-or	) Signatur			
· · · · · · · ·						

## 17. Acknowledgements

This work was performed at the Division of Gastrointestinal Surgery, which was reorganized and renamed the Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery in 2012, at the Stavanger University Hospital, and was performed within the Surgical Research Group at the Stavanger University Hospital. The research was performed on a parttime basis while I worked as a surgical consultant at the Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery and, after May 2012, as the head of the department. Much of the work was made possible by the support and help of my great colleagues. Thank you!

I could never have written this thesis without my supervisor and colleague, Professor Hartwig Kørner. He pushed me, encouraged me, challenged me, inspired me, and, above all, supported me in every aspect of this work. He also taught me how to become a surgeon. For all of these reasons, I will always be grateful to him.

I want to express my deep respect and gratitude to my co-supervisor, Professor Kjetil Søreide. He has an enormous capacity to work hard, and despite all of his many other commitments, he always had time to help me, to challenge me, and to offer his limitless creativity and encouragement.

Professor Jon Arne Søreide, leader of the Surgical Research Group, was also my cosupervisor. He was always there for me, helping when needed, pushing when needed and helping me lay the framework for this work.

I want to thank Professor Jan Terje Kvaløy, who provided invaluable help with the many statistical challenges that faced me while analysing the data. He taught me a lot about relative survival and excess mortality, and I rather surprisingly found the learning experience to be most joyful and interesting.

Dr. Morten Tandberg Eriksen and Professor Arild Nesbakken, who worked at Akershus University Hospital and Oslo University Hospital, respectively, joined our research group and contributed great ideas and constructive criticism that stemmed from their valuable clinical and scientific experience.

I also wish to thank Liv Marit Dørum and her colleagues at the Cancer Registry of Norway for valuable help and for providing data. In addition, my colleague and friend Dr. Knut Harboe provided valuable help with processing information from the database. His contributions were very much appreciated

Many grateful thanks also go to the board and members of the Norwegian Colorectal Cancer Group, who allowed me to take part in their meetings, to present informal and premature research results, and who gave me valuable feedback.

I also wish to thank the people who were head of Division of Surgery/Department of Surgery, Nils B. Johannesen, Lars Erik Krag and Ottar Bjerkeset, for giving me time to research. I am very grateful to my colleague and former head of Section of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Tom Glomsaker, who recruited me to the specialty of Gastrointestinal surgery. He always encouraged me and endorsed my surgical education at any time. I want to give my special thanks to Inger Cathrine Bryne, Director of the Division of Surgery since February 2011 for introducing me into the field of leadership when I came into the position of head of the newly established department of Gastro-intestinal Surgery, and giving me all her confidence. She generously supported me to combine leadership with both research and clinical work. This study was funded by the Folke Hermansen Cancer Research Fund, Stavanger. This support helped provide both time and space for my research project, and I am sincerely grateful for this opportunity.

I also want to thank Sven Martin Kørner for the artwork, which he painted while preparing for his own examinations.

And last, but perhaps most importantly, I would like to thank my wife, Anja, and our two children, Birk and Vilde, for their support, understanding, patience and love during these busy years of research and multitasking. Thank you!

Stavanger, December 2012

Bjørn Steinar O. Nedrebø, MD

## 18. References

1. Mulcahy HE, Hyland J, O'Donoghue DP. From dinosaurs to DNA: a history of colorectal cancer. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2003;**18**(3): 210-215.

2. Graney MJ, Graney CM. Colorectal surgery from antiguity to the modern era. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1980;**23**(6): 432-441.

3. Keighley MRB WN. Surgery of the ANUS, RECTUM and COLON 3 edition SAUNDERS ELSEVIER. 2008.

4. Turnbull RB, Jr., Kyle K, Watson FR, Spratt J. Cancer of the colon: the influence of the no-touch isolation technic on survival rates. *Ann Surg* 1967;**166**(3): 420-427.

5. Norstein J LF. Results of rectal cancer treatment: a national experience. *Berlin Springer Vorlag* 1997: 17-28.

6. Rein KA WJ, Sæther OD et al. Lokalt residiv ved cancer recti. *Tidsskr Nor Lægeforen* 1987;**107**: 2318-2320.

7. Heald RJ, Husband EM, Ryall RD. The mesorectum in rectal cancer surgery--the clue to pelvic recurrence? *Br J Surg* 1982;**69**(10): 613-616.

8. Heald RJ, Ryall RD. Recurrence and survival after total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer. *Lancet* 1986;1(8496): 1479-1482.

9. Heald RJ. Total mesorectal excision is optimal surgery for rectal cancer: a Scandinavian consensus. *Br J Surg* 1995;**82**(10): 1297-1299.

10. Jayne DG, Thorpe HC, Copeland J, Quirke P, Brown JM, Guillou PJ. Five-year follow-up of the Medical Research Council CLASICC trial of laparoscopically assisted versus open surgery for colorectal cancer. *Br J Surg* 2010;**97**(11): 1638-1645.

11. Kim NK, Kang J. Optimal Total Mesorectal Excision for Rectal Cancer: the Role of Robotic Surgery from an Expert's View. *Journal of the Korean Society of Coloproctology* 2010;**26**(6): 377-387.

12. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2011;**61**(2): 69-90.

13. Cancer in Norway 2008 - Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway. Oslo: Cancer Registry of Norway; 2009.

14. Helsedirektoratet. Nasjonalt handlingsprogramm med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av tykk- og endetarmskreft. In; 2010.

15. Center MM, Jemal A, Smith RA, Ward E. Worldwide variations in colorectal cancer. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2009;**59**(6): 366-378.

16. Bray F, Wibe A, Dørum LM, Moller B. [Epidemiology of colorectal cancer in Norway]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2007;**127**(20): 2682-2687.

17. Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. *Int J Cancer* 2010;**127**(12): 2893-2917.

18. Lai SM, Zhang KB, Uhler RJ, Harrison JN, Clutter GG, Williams MA. Geographic variation in the incidence of colorectal cancer in the United States, 1998-2001. *Cancer* 2006;**107**(5 Suppl): 1172-1180.

19. Gervaz P, Bucher P, Morel P. Two colons-two cancers: paradigm shift and clinical implications. *J Surg Oncol* 2004;**88**(4): 261-266.

20. Vargas AJ, Thompson PA. Diet and nutrient factors in colorectal cancer risk. *Nutrition in clinical practice : official publication of the American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition* 2012;**27**(5): 613-623.

21. Hartnett L, Egan LJ. Inflammation, DNA methylation and colitis-associated cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 2012;**33**(4): 723-731.

22. Jasperson KW, Tuohy TM, Neklason DW, Burt RW. Hereditary and familial colon cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2010;**138**(6): 2044-2058.

23. Gong J, Hutter CM, Baron JA, Berndt SI, Caan BJ, Campbell PT, Casey G, Chan AT, Cotterchio M, Fuchs CS, Gallinger S, Giovannucci E, Harrison TA, Hayes RB, Hsu L, Jiao S, Lin Y, Lindor NM, Newcomb PA, Pflugeisen BM, Phipps AI, Rohan TE, Schoen RE, Seminara D, Slattery ML, Stelling DL, Thomas F, Warnick GS, White E, Potter JD, Peters U. A pooled analysis of smoking and colorectal cancer: timing of exposure and interactions with environmental factors. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2012.

24. Risio M. The natural history of adenomas. *Best practice & research Clinical gastroenterology* 2010;**24**(3): 271-280.

25. Lau PC, Sung JJ. Flat adenoma in colon: two decades of debate. *Journal of digestive diseases* 2010;**11**(4): 201-207.

26. Søreide K, Nedrebo BS, Knapp JC, Glomsaker TB, Søreide JA, Kørner H. Evolving molecular classification by genomic and proteomic biomarkers in colorectal cancer: potential implications for the surgical oncologist. *Surg Oncol* 2009;**18**(1): 31-50.

27. Søreide K, Søreide JA, Kørner H. Prognostic role of carcinoembryonic antigen is influenced by microsatellite instability genotype and stage in locally advanced colorectal cancers. *World J Surg* 2011;**35**(4): 888-894.

28. Søreide K, Nedrebo BS, Søreide JA, Slewa A, Kørner H. Lymph node harvest in colon cancer: influence of microsatellite instability and proximal tumor location. *World J Surg* 2009;**33**(12): 2695-2703.

29. Søreide K, Slewa A, Stokkeland PJ, van Diermen B, Janssen EA, Søreide JA, Baak JP, Kørner H. Microsatellite instability and DNA ploidy in colorectal cancer: potential implications for patients undergoing systematic surveillance after resection. *Cancer* 2009;**115**(2): 271-282.

30. Søreide K, Janssen EA, Soiland H, Kørner H, Baak JP. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Br J Surg* 2006;**93**(4): 395-406.

31. Rex DK. Colonoscopy: a review of its yield for cancers and adenomas by indication. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1995;**90**(3): 353-365.

32. Gainant A. Emergency management of acute colonic cancer obstruction. *J Visc Surg* 2012;**149**(1): e3-e10.

33. Sjo OH, Larsen S, Lunde OC, Nesbakken A. Short term outcome after emergency and elective surgery for colon cancer. *Colorectal Dis* 2009;**11**(7): 733-739.

34. Rosman AS, Korsten MA. Meta-analysis comparing CT colonography, air contrast barium enema, and colonoscopy. *Am J Med* 2007;**120**(3): 203-210 e204.

35. Mulhall BP, Veerappan GR, Jackson JL. Meta-analysis: computed tomographic colonography. *Ann Intern Med* 2005;**142**(8): 635-650.

36. Patel SS, Floyd A, Doorly MG, Ortega AE, Ault GT, Kaiser AM, Senagore AJ. Current controversies in the management of colon cancer. *Curr Probl Surg* 2012;**49**(7): 398-460.

37. Lin M. Molecular imaging using positron emission tomography in colorectal cancer. *Discov Med* 2011;**11**(60): 435-447.

38. Kørner H, Søreide K, Stokkeland PJ, Søreide JA. Diagnostic accuracy of serumcarcinoembryonic antigen in recurrent colorectal cancer: a receiver operating characteristic curve analysis. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2007;**14**(2): 417-423.

39. Brown G, Radcliffe AG, Newcombe RG, Dallimore NS, Bourne MW, Williams GT. Preoperative assessment of prognostic factors in rectal cancer using high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging. *Br J Surg* 2003;**90**(3): 355-364.

40. Evans J, Patel U, Brown G. Rectal cancer: primary staging and assessment after chemoradiotherapy. *Semin Radiat Oncol* 2011;**21**(3): 169-177.

41. Purkayastha S, Tekkis PP, Athanasiou T, Tilney HS, Darzi AW, Heriot AG. Diagnostic precision of magnetic resonance imaging for preoperative prediction of the circumferential margin involvement in patients with rectal cancer. *Colorectal Dis* 2007;**9**(5): 402-411.

42. Extramural depth of tumor invasion at thin-section MR in patients with rectal cancer: results of the MERCURY study. *Radiology* 2007;**243**(1): 132-139.

43. Zorcolo L, Fantola G, Cabras F, Marongiu L, D'Alia G, Casula G. Preoperative staging of patients with rectal tumors suitable for transanal endoscopic microsurgery (TEM): comparison of endorectal ultrasound and histopathologic findings. *Surg Endosc* 2009;**23**(6): 1384-1389.

44. Adjuvant radiotherapy for rectal cancer: a systematic overview of 8,507 patients from 22 randomised trials. *Lancet* 2001;**358**(9290): 1291-1304.

45. Pahlman L, Glimelius B. Pre- or postoperative radiotherapy in rectal and rectosigmoid carcinoma. Report from a randomized multicenter trial. *Ann Surg* 1990;**211**(2): 187-195.

46. Sauer R, Becker H, Hohenberger W, Rodel C, Wittekind C, Fietkau R, Martus P, Tschmelitsch J, Hager E, Hess CF, Karstens JH, Liersch T, Schmidberger H, Raab R. Preoperative versus postoperative chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2004;**351**(17): 1731-1740.

47. Kapiteijn E, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID, Putter H, Steup WH, Wiggers T, Rutten HJ, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, van Krieken JH, Leer JW, van de Velde CJ. Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2001;**345**(9): 638-646.

48. Improved survival with preoperative radiotherapy in resectable rectal cancer. Swedish Rectal Cancer Trial. *N Engl J Med* 1997;**336**(14): 980-987.

49. Wibe A, Rendedal PR, Svensson E, Norstein J, Eide TJ, Myrvold HE, Søreide O. Prognostic significance of the circumferential resection margin following total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer. *Br J Surg* 2002;**89**(3): 327-334.

50. Kim J, Mittal R, Konyalian V, King J, Stamos MJ, Kumar RR. Outcome analysis of patients undergoing colorectal resection for emergent and elective indications. *Am Surg* 2007;**73**(10): 991-993.

51. Al-Refaie WB, Parsons HM, Habermann EB, Kwaan M, Spencer MP, Henderson WG, Rothenberger DA. Operative outcomes beyond 30-day mortality: colorectal cancer surgery in oldest old. *Ann Surg* 2011;**253**(5): 947-952.

52. Tan KY, Kawamura Y, Mizokami K, Sasaki J, Tsujinaka S, Maeda T, Konishi F. Colorectal surgery in octogenarian patients--outcomes and predictors of morbidity. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2009;**24**(2): 185-189.

53. Ronning B, Wyller TB, Seljeflot I, Jordhoy MS, Skovlund E, Nesbakken A, Kristjansson SR. Frailty measures, inflammatory biomarkers and post-operative complications in older surgical patients. *Age Ageing* 2010;**39**(6): 758-761.

54. Kunitake H, Zingmond DS, Ryoo J, Ko CY. Caring for octogenarian and nonagenarian patients with colorectal cancer: what should our standards and expectations be? *Dis Colon Rectum* 2010;**53**(5): 735-743.

55. Dukes CE. The Surgical Pathology of Rectal Cancer. *J Clin Pathol* 1949;**2**(2): 95-98.

56. Edge SB BD, Compton CC, Fritz AG, Greene FL, Trotti A, editor. AJCC cancer staging manual 7th ed. New York. Springer 2010. 2010.

57. Walters S, Maringe C, Butler J, Brierley JD, Rachet B, Coleman MP. Comparability of stage data in cancer registries in six countries: Lessons from the International Cancer Benchmarking Partnership. *Int J Cancer* 2012.

58. Elias D, Gilly F, Boutitie F, Quenet F, Bereder JM, Mansvelt B, Lorimier G, Dube P, Glehen O. Peritoneal colorectal carcinomatosis treated with surgery and perioperative intraperitoneal chemotherapy: retrospective analysis of 523 patients from a multicentric French study. *J Clin Oncol* 2010;**28**(1): 63-68.

59. Seitz U, Bohnacker S, Seewald S, Thonke F, Brand B, Braiutigam T, Soehendra N. Is endoscopic polypectomy an adequate therapy for malignant colorectal adenomas? Presentation of 114 patients and review of the literature. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2004;**47**(11): 1789-1796; discussion 1796-1787.

60. Bruce J, Krukowski ZH, Al-Khairy G, Russell EM, Park KG. Systematic review of the definition and measurement of anastomotic leak after gastrointestinal surgery. *Br J Surg* 2001;**88**(9): 1157-1168.

61. Law WL, Choi HK, Lee YM, Ho JW, Seto CL. Anastomotic leakage is associated with poor long-term outcome in patients after curative colorectal resection for malignancy. J *Gastrointest Surg* 2007;**11**(1): 8-15.

62. Boccola MA, Buettner PG, Rozen WM, Siu SK, Stevenson AR, Stitz R, Ho YH. Risk factors and outcomes for anastomotic leakage in colorectal surgery: a single-institution analysis of 1576 patients. *World J Surg* 2011;**35**(1): 186-195.

63. Lange MM, Buunen M, van de Velde CJ, Lange JF. Level of arterial ligation in rectal cancer surgery: low tie preferred over high tie. A review. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2008;**51**(7): 1139-1145.

64. Hohenberger W, Weber K, Matzel K, Papadopoulos T, Merkel S. Standardized surgery for colonic cancer: complete mesocolic excision and central ligation--technical notes and outcome. *Colorectal Dis* 2009;**11**(4): 354-364; discussion 364-355.

65. Hoffmann M, Phillips C, Oevermann E, Killaitis C, Roblick UJ, Hildebrand P, Buerk CG, Wolken H, Kujath P, Schloericke E, Bruch HP. Multivisceral and standard resections in colorectal cancer. *Langenbecks Arch Surg* 2012;**397**(1): 75-84.

66. West NP, Hohenberger W, Weber K, Perrakis A, Finan PJ, Quirke P. Complete mesocolic excision with central vascular ligation produces an oncologically superior specimen compared with standard surgery for carcinoma of the colon. *J Clin Oncol* 2010;**28**(2): 272-278.

67. West NP, Morris EJ, Rotimi O, Cairns A, Finan PJ, Quirke P. Pathology grading of colon cancer surgical resection and its association with survival: a retrospective observational study. *Lancet Oncol* 2008;9(9): 857-865.

68. West NP, Kobayashi H, Takahashi K, Perrakis A, Weber K, Hohenberger W, Sugihara K, Quirke P. Understanding optimal colonic cancer surgery: comparison of Japanese D3 resection and European complete mesocolic excision with central vascular ligation. *J Clin Oncol* 2012;**30**(15): 1763-1769.

69. Swanson RS, Compton CC, Stewart AK, Bland KI. The prognosis of T3N0 colon cancer is dependent on the number of lymph nodes examined. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2003;**10**(1): 65-71.

70. Tsai HL, Lu CY, Hsieh JS, Wu DC, Jan CM, Chai CY, Chu KS, Chan HM, Wang JY. The prognostic significance of total lymph node harvest in patients with T2-4N0M0 colorectal cancer. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2007;**11**(5): 660-665.

71. Parsons H. Association between Lymph node evaluation for colon cancer and node positivity over the past 20 years. *JAMA* 2011;**306**(10): 1089-1097.

72. Titu LV, Tweedle E, Rooney PS. High tie of the inferior mesenteric artery in curative surgery for left colonic and rectal cancers: a systematic review. *Dig Surg* 2008;**25**(2): 148-157.

73. Park IJ, Choi GS, Lim KH, Kang BM, Jun SH. Metastasis to the sigmoid or sigmoid mesenteric lymph nodes from rectal cancer. *Ann Surg* 2009;**249**(6): 960-964.

74. Damin DC, Rosito MA, Contu PC, Tarta C, Ferreira PR, Kliemann LM, Schwartsmann G. Lymph node retrieval after preoperative chemoradiotherapy for rectal cancer. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2012;**16**(8): 1573-1580.

75. Sagar J. Colorectal stents for the management of malignant colonic obstructions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011(11): CD007378.

76. Kim JS, Hur H, Min BS, Sohn SK, Cho CH, Kim NK. Oncologic outcomes of selfexpanding metallic stent insertion as a bridge to surgery in the management of left-sided colon cancer obstruction: comparison with nonobstructing elective surgery. *World J Surg* 2009;**33**(6): 1281-1286.

.77. van Hooft JE, Bemelman WA, Oldenburg B, Marinelli AW, Holzik MF, Grubben MJ, Sprangers MA, Dijkgraaf MG, Fockens P. Colonic stenting versus emergency surgery for acute left-sided malignant colonic obstruction: a multicentre randomised trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2011;**12**(4): 344-352.
78. Sauer R, Liersch T, Merkel S, Fietkau R, Hohenberger W, Hess C, Becker H, Raab HR, Villanueva MT, Witzigmann H, Wittekind C, Beissbarth T, Rodel C. Preoperative versus postoperative chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced rectal cancer: results of the German CAO/ARO/AIO-94 randomized phase III trial after a median follow-up of 11 years. *J Clin Oncol* 2012;**30**(16): 1926-1933.

79. van Gijn W, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID, Kranenbarg EM, Putter H, Wiggers T, Rutten HJ, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, van de Velde CJ. Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer: 12-year follow-up of the multicentre, randomised controlled TME trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2011;**12**(6): 575-582.

80. Helsedirektoratet. Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av tykk- og endetarmskreft. 2010.

81. Bernstein TE, Endreseth BH, Romundstad P, Wibe A. What is a safe distal resection margin in rectal cancer patients treated by low anterior resection without preoperative radiotherapy? *Colorectal Dis* 2012;**14**(2): e48-55.

82. Zhang YC, Jin XD, Zhang YT, Wang ZQ. Better functional outcome provided by short-armed sigmoid colon-rectal side-to-end anastomosis after laparoscopic low anterior resection: a match-paired retrospective study from China. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2012;**27**(4): 535-541.

83. Wibe A, Syse A, Andersen E, Tretli S, Myrvold HE, Søreide O. Oncological outcomes after total mesorectal excision for cure for cancer of the lower rectum: anterior vs. abdominoperineal resection. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2004;**47**(1): 48-58.

84. Holm T, Ljung A, Haggmark T, Jurell G, Lagergren J. Extended abdominoperineal resection with gluteus maximus flap reconstruction of the pelvic floor for rectal cancer. BrJ *Surg* 2007;**94**(2): 232-238.

85. Stelzner S, Koehler C, Stelzer J, Sims A, Witzigmann H. Extended abdominoperineal excision vs. standard abdominoperineal excision in rectal cancer--a systematic overview. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2011;**26**(10): 1227-1240.

86. Larssen L, Medhus AW, Kørner H, Glomsaker T, Soberg T, Gleditsch D, Hovde O, Tholfsen JK, Skreden K, Nesbakken A, Hauge T. Long-term outcome of palliative treatment with self-expanding metal stents for malignant obstructions of the GI tract. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 2012;**47**(12): 1505-1514.

87. Sigurdsson HK, Kørner H, Dahl O, Skarstein A, Søreide JA. Palliative surgery for rectal cancer in a national cohort. *Colorectal Dis* 2008;**10**(4): 336-343.

88. Bjugn R, Casati B, Norstein J. Structured electronic template for histopathology reports on colorectal carcinomas: a joint project by the Cancer Registry of Norway and the Norwegian Society for Pathology. *Hum Pathol* 2008;**39**(3): 359-367.

89. Casati B, Bjugn R. Structured electronic template for histopathology reporting on colorectal carcinoma resections: five-year follow-up shows sustainable long-term quality improvement. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* 2012;**136**(6): 652-656.

90. MacFarlane JK, Ryall RD, Heald RJ. Mesorectal excision for rectal cancer. *Lancet* 1993;**341**(8843): 457-460.

91. Hansen MH, Kjaeve J, Revhaug A, Eriksen MT, Wibe A, Vonen B. Impact of radiotherapy on local recurrence of rectal cancer in Norway. *Br J Surg* 2007;**94**(1): 113-118.

92. Wibe A, Moller B, Norstein J, Carlsen E, Wiig JN, Heald RJ, Langmark F, Myrvold HE, Søreide O. A national strategic change in treatment policy for rectal cancer-implementation of total mesorectal excision as routine treatment in Norway. A national audit. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2002;**45**(7): 857-866.

93. Eriksen MT, Wibe A, Haffner J, Wiig JN. Prognostic groups in 1,676 patients with T3 rectal cancer treated without preoperative radiotherapy. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2007;**50**(2): 156-167.

94. Visser BC, Keegan H, Martin M, Wren SM. Death after colectomy: it's later than we think. *Arch Surg* 2009;**144**(11): 1021-1027.

95. Stelzner S, Hellmich G, Koch R, Witzigmann H. Exactitude of relative survival compared with cause-specific survival and competing risk estimations based on a clinical database of patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2009;**52**(7): 1264-1271.

96. Pohar M, Stare J. Making relative survival analysis relatively easy. *Comput Biol Med* 2007;**37**(12): 1741-1749.

97. Statistics Norway. http://www.ssb.no [accessed January, 17, 2010]

98. Dickman PW, Sloggett A, Hills M, Hakulinen T. Regression models for relative survival. *Stat Med* 2004;**23**(1): 51-64.

99. Perme MP, Henderson R, Stare J. An approach to estimation in relative survival regression. *Biostatistics* 2009;**10**(1): 136-146.

100. Pohar M, Stare J. Relative survival analysis in R. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed* 2006;**81**(3): 272-278.

101. Wibe A, Carlsen E, Dahl O, Tveit KM, Weedon-Fekjaer H, Hestvik UE, Wiig JN. Nationwide quality assurance of rectal cancer treatment. *Colorectal Dis* 2006;**8**(3): 224-229.

102. Engeland A, Haldorsen T, Dickman PW, Hakulinen T, Moller TR, Storm HH, Tulinius H. Relative survival of cancer patients--a comparison between Denmark and the other Nordic countries. *Acta Oncol* 1998;**37**(1): 49-59.

103. Angell-Andersen E, Tretli S, Coleman MP, Langmark F, Grotmol T. Colorectal cancer survival trends in Norway 1958-1997. *Eur J Cancer* 2004;**40**(5): 734-742.

104. Birgisson H, Talback M, Gunnarsson U, Pahlman L, Glimelius B. Improved survival in cancer of the colon and rectum in Sweden. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2005;**31**(8): 845-853.

105. van Gijn W, Krijnen P, Lemmens VE, den Dulk M, Putter H, van de Velde CJ. Quality assurance in rectal cancer treatment in the Netherlands: a catch up compared to colon cancer treatment. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2010;**36**(4): 340-344.

106. Wong RK, Tandan V, De Silva S, Figueredo A. Pre-operative radiotherapy and curative surgery for the management of localized rectal carcinoma. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007(2): CD002102.

107. Peeters KC, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID, Kranenbarg EK, Putter H, Wiggers T, Rutten H, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, Leer JW, van de Velde CJ. The TME trial after a median follow-up of 6 years: increased local control but no survival benefit in irradiated patients with resectable rectal carcinoma. *Ann Surg* 2007;**246**(5): 693-701.

108. Tveit KM, Dahl O, Gerner T. [Chemotherapy in colorectal cancer. Recommendations of the Norwegian Gastrointestinal Cancer Group]. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 1996;**116**(3): 357-360.

109. van den Broek CB, Dekker JW, Bastiaannet E, Krijnen P, de Craen AJ, Tollenaar RA, van de Velde CJ, Liefers GJ. The survival gap between middle-aged and elderly colon cancer patients. Time trends in treatment and survival. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2011;**37**(10): 904-912.

110. Tiselius C, Gunnarsson U, Smedh K, Glimelius B, Pahlman L. Patients with rectal cancer receiving adjuvant chemotherapy have an increased survival: a population-based longitudinal study. *Ann Oncol* 2012.

111. Mitry E, Bouvier AM, Esteve J, Faivre J. Benefit of operative mortality reduction on colorectal cancer survival. *Br J Surg* 2002;**89**(12): 1557-1562.

112. Mitry E, Bouvier AM, Esteve J, Faivre J. Improvement in colorectal cancer survival: a population-based study. *Eur J Cancer* 2005;**41**(15): 2297-2303.

113. Engholm G, Kejs AM, Brewster DH, Gaard M, Holmberg L, Hartley R, Iddenden R, Moller H, Sankila R, Thomson CS, Storm HH. Colorectal cancer survival in the Nordic countries and the United Kingdom: excess mortality risk analysis of 5 year relative period survival in the period 1999 to 2000. *Int J Cancer* 2007;**121**(5): 1115-1122.

114. Morris EJ, Taylor EF, Thomas JD, Quirke P, Finan PJ, Coleman MP, Rachet B, Forman D. Thirty-day postoperative mortality after colorectal cancer surgery in England. *Gut* 2011;**60**(6): 806-813.

115. Smedh K, Olsson L, Johansson H, Aberg C, Andersson M. Reduction of postoperative morbidity and mortality in patients with rectal cancer following the introduction of a colorectal unit. *Br J Surg* 2001;**88**(2): 273-277.

116. Jullumstro E, Wibe A, Lydersen S, Edna TH. Colon cancer incidence, presentation, treatment and outcomes over 25 years. *Colorectal Dis*;**13**(5): 512-518.

117. Iversen LH, Bulow S, Christensen IJ, Laurberg S, Harling H. Postoperative medical complications are the main cause of early death after emergency surgery for colonic cancer. *Br J Surg* 2008;**95**(8): 1012-1019.

118. Glimelius B, Dahl O, Cedermark B, Jakobsen A, Bentzen SM, Starkhammar H, Gronberg H, Hultborn R, Albertsson M, Påhlman L, Tveit KM. Adjuvant chemotherapy in colorectal cancer: a joint analysis of randomised trials by the Nordic Gastrointestinal Tumour Adjuvant Therapy Group. *Acta Oncol* 2005;**44**(8): 904-912.

119. Dube S, Heyen F, Jenicek M. Adjuvant chemotherapy in colorectal carcinoma: results of a meta-analysis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1997;**40**(1): 35-41.

120. Petersen SH, Harling H, Kirkeby LT, Wille-Jorgensen P, Mocellin S. Postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy in rectal cancer operated for cure. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012;**3**: CD004078.

121. Baxter NN. Is lymph node count an ideal quality indicator for cancer care? *J Surg Oncol* 2009;**99**(4): 265-268.

122. Kelder W, Inberg B, Schaapveld M, Karrenbeld A, Grond J, Wiggers T, Plukker JT. Impact of the number of histologically examined lymph nodes on prognosis in colon cancer: a population-based study in the Netherlands. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2009;**52**(2): 260-267.

123. Nathan H, Shore AD, Anders RA, Wick EC, Gearhart SL, Pawlik TM. Variation in lymph node assessment after colon cancer resection: patient, surgeon, pathologist, or hospital? *J Gastrointest Surg*;**15**(3): 471-479.

124. Baxter NN, Virnig DJ, Rothenberger DA, Morris AM, Jessurun J, Virnig BA. Lymph node evaluation in colorectal cancer patients: a population-based study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2005;**97**(3): 219-225.

125. Bilimoria KY, Bentrem DJ, Stewart AK, Talamonti MS, Winchester DP, Russell TR, Ko CY. Lymph node evaluation as a colon cancer quality measure: a national hospital report card. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2008;**100**(18): 1310-1317.

126. Wong SL, Ji H, Hollenbeck BK, Morris AM, Baser O, Birkmeyer JD. Hospital lymph node examination rates and survival after resection for colon cancer. *JAMA* 2007;**298**(18): 2149-2154.

127. Elferink MA, Siesling S, Visser O, Rutten HJ, van Krieken JH, Tollenaar RA, Lemmens VE. Large variation between hospitals and pathology laboratories in lymph node evaluation in colon cancer and its impact on survival, a nationwide population-based study in the Netherlands. *Ann Oncol* 2011;**22**(1): 110-117.

128. Wright FC, Law CH, Last LD, Ritacco R, Kumar D, Hsieh E, Khalifa M, Smith AJ. Barriers to optimal assessment of lymph nodes in colorectal cancer specimens. *Am J Clin Pathol* 2004;**121**(5): 663-670.

129. Iversen LH, Laurberg S, Hagemann-Madsen R, Dybdahl H. Increased lymph node harvest from colorectal cancer

resections using GEWF solution: a randomised study. *J Clin Pathol* 2008;**61**: 1203-1208. 130. Reese JA, Hall C, Bowles K, Moesinger RC. Colorectal surgical specimen lymph node harvest: improvement of lymph node yield with a pathology assistant. *J Gastrointest Surg* 2009;**13**(8): 1459-1463.

131. Fan L, Levy M, Aguilar CE, Mertens RB, Dhall D, Frishberg DP, Wang HL. Lymph node retrieval from colorectal resection specimens for adenocarcinoma: is it worth the extra effort to find at least 12 nodes? *Colorectal Dis* 2011;**13**(12): 1377-1383.

132. Elferink MA WM, Krijnen P, Lemmens VE, Jansen-Landheer ML, van de Velde CJ, Siesling S, Tollenaar RA. Disparities in quality of care for colon cancer between hospitals in the Netherlands. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2010;**Sep;36**(Suppl 1): S64-73.

133. Wright FC, Law CH, Last L, Khalifa M, Arnaout A, Naseer Z, Klar N, Gallinger S, Smith AJ. Lymph node retrieval and assessment in stage II colorectal cancer: a populationbased study. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2003;**10**(8): 903-909.

134. Beattie GC, McAdam TK, Elliott S, Sloan JM, Irwin ST. Improvement in quality of colorectal cancer pathology reporting with a standardized proforma--a comparative study. *Colorectal Dis* 2003;**5**(6): 558-562.

135. Siriwardana PN, Pathmeswaran A, Hewavisenthi J, Deen KI. Histopathology reporting in colorectal cancer: a proforma improves quality. *Colorectal Dis* 2009;**11**(8): 849-853.

136. Haugland HK, Casati B, Dørum LM, Bjugn R. Template reporting matters--a nationwide study on histopathology reporting on colorectal carcinoma resections. *Hum Pathol*;**42**(1): 36-40.

137. Belt EJ tVE, Krijgsman O, Brosens RP, Tijssen M, van Essen HF, Stockmann HB, Bril H, Carvalho B, Ylstra B, Bonjer HJ, Meijer GA. High lymph node yield is related to microsatellite instability in colon cancer.*Ann Surg Oncol* 2012;**2012**(Apr;19(4)): 1222-1230.

138. Shia J, Wang H, Nash GM, Klimstra DS. Lymph node staging in colorectal cancer: revisiting the benchmark of at least 12 lymph nodes in R0 resection. *J Am Coll Surg* 2012;**214**(3): 348-355.

139. Parsons HM, Tuttle TM, Kuntz KM, Begun JW, McGovern PM, Virnig BA. Association between lymph node evaluation for colon cancer and node positivity over the past 20 years. *JAMA* 2011;**306**(10): 1089-1097.

140. Bernhoff R, Holm T, Sjovall A, Granath F, Ekbom A, Martling A. Increased lymph node harvest in patients operated on for right-sided colon cancer: a population-based study. *Colorectal Dis* 2012;**14**(6): 691-696.

141. Chang GJ, Rodriguez-Bigas MA, Skibber JM, Moyer VA. Lymph node evaluation and survival after curative resection of colon cancer: systematic review. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2007;**99**(6): 433-441.

142. Le Voyer TE, Sigurdson ER, Hanlon AL, Mayer RJ, Macdonald JS, Catalano PJ, Haller DG. Colon cancer survival is associated with increasing number of lymph nodes analyzed: a secondary survey of intergroup trial INT-0089. *J Clin Oncol* 2003;**21**(15): 2912-2919.

143. Chen SL, Bilchik AJ. More extensive nodal dissection improves survival for stages I to III of colon cancer: a population-based study. *Ann Surg* 2006;**244**(4): 602-610.

144. Feinstein AR, Sosin DM, Wells CK. The Will Rogers phenomenon. Stage migration and new diagnostic techniques as a source of misleading statistics for survival in cancer. *N Engl J Med* 1985;**312**(25): 1604-1608.